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INTRODUCTION  
1. 
It is much easier to describe the history of a large region, such as the Pilbara, than to write about one relatively small part of that region. As a result many of the secondary sources used in the preparation of this report are generalised to the Bunjima Claim Area or,  I was able to extract  brief though relevant information about one or more pastoral station within or adjacent to this territory.  The brief asked me to apply my knowledge as an historian to documents pertaining to the Bunjima Trial area. 
2.
Much of the research for this report was conducted  in the State Records Office of Western Australia (SROWA) and the Battye Library seeking relevant sources.  During the course of my research I have identified, by name, more than 400 men, women and children who appear to have had some connection with the Bunjima Trial Area and related districts. These lists are submitted as Attachments A and I will occasional refer to them. Each entry is numbered for identification as an alternative to using the person’s name.   

3.
I include coastal explorers only to establish the fact that the presence of indigenous people on the coast of the Pilbara was well documented. The earliest European records of exploration across or near to the Bunjima Trial Area were searched and failed to offer anything of real value about the Aborigines seen. The explorers of this era may note the presence of Aborigines but they rarely recorded the names of people or enquired about the tribal names and territories they traversed. I have presented a summary of the 1861 Gregory expedition, one of the few to see the Hamersley Range and to acknowledge the presence of Aborigines as a source of human labour in the pastoral industry. 

4.
I found no evidence that the pearling industry impacted upon the lives and lifestyles of the Bunjima ancestors and I merely acknowledge the possibility that men from the Hamersley Range may have been kidnapped and sold onto pearling luggers.

6
The archived files of the Police and Prisons Departments form an important part of my report but these do have their limitations in that they only capture fragments of time; a policeman may visit a pastoral station on his patrol route an occasionally arrest one or more men.  Unfortunately the sequence of documentation is often incomplete as shown with the Rottnest Island prisoners identified with the Hamersley Ranges. We may have a record of a man in Roebourne prison but no police file to identify his home location or the details of his crime, arrest and trial. Relatively few prisoners at Rottnest and Roebourne Gaols can be traced to the Bunjima Trial Area. I would venture the opinion that pastoralists in the vicinity of the Hamersley Range  were in need of Aboriginal labour and endeavoured bring them in to the station labour force rather than use the police to remove them. 
7.
The reports of the Aborigines Protection Board Travelling Inspector, Charles  Straker, reveal a little a little about  employment conditions of Aboriginal people in the Bunjima Trial Area less than thirty years after settlement in the Pilbara region. In 1897 the government replaced the Aborigines Protection Board  with an Aborigines Department and in 1901 Inspector George Olivey was inspecting many of the stations seen by Straker in 1892. Additional information about Aboriginal people in the Bunjima Claim Area and nearby pastoral stations was found in the reports of  those police officer serving as Protectors of Aborigines conducting  an occasional census at the request of the Chief Protector, and reporting on, and removing,  part-Aboriginal children seen during their regular patrols. Police also accompanied the District Medical Officers seeking out cases of leprosy and venereal disease.  For the years 1951-1971 the records of the Aborigines Department, by then the Department of Native Affairs, are once again the major source of information.   
7.
 I have considered the likely impact of introduced disease, pensions, station wages and living conditions and access to schools as factors contributing to the drift away from pastoral stations and towards the town life.  In Section Nine I have complied with a request to identify the legislation and policies that, in my opinion, have had an impact on the lives and lifestyle of those people associated with the Bunjima Trial Area. 
SECTION ONE                    BUNJIMA DESCRIBED
1.1   Introduction
7.
According to my brief, one of the principal issues in the Bunjima Trial Area proceedings is to determine if the historical records reveal any information relevant to the Bunjima Trial Area such as the boundaries of the Bunjima and the  names of those who may identify as Bunjima. 
8.
When compared to regions closer to the coast, the  Bunjima Trial Area is not richly endowed with historical sources. The area attracted the interest of very few nineteenth century explorers and the records created by the pastoralists who took up leases  in this area have not been seen and are presumed to be lost.  
1.2 Edward Curr
9.
Edward Curr wrote to the Western Australian Colonial Secretary Lord Edric Gifford in 1881, seeking information about Western Australian Aborigines and the  replies were forwarded to Curr to be to collated and published in 1886.
 This was quite early in the history of the Pilbara and the contributors to Curr were two pioneer pastoralists, Charles Harper, A.R. Richardson and Frederick Barlee who was Gifford’s successor.  Harper offers a brief description and short list of the Ngurla tribe near the mouth of the De Grey River to the north of Roebourne. Richardson does the same for the ‘Nickol Bay Tribe’ and the Colonial Secretary Frederick Barlee, who succeeded Gifford in 1883, submitted a vocabulary of the Weedookarry Tribe on the Shaw River.  The Ngurla is carried through to 1974 as Ngarla and Weedookarra goes out of use and were not carried through to Norman Tindale’s 1974 tribal map of Pilbara tribes. 
1. 3  John Withnell  and A.R. Richardson
10.
John Withnell, another pioneering pastoralist, published a small booklet about the Gnalouma Tribe near Roebourne and identified six tribes:  “The Gnalouma, near Roebourne, Kyreaar, on the Yule River, Namel on the Shaw River, Yingiebandie, on the Tableland, Pulgoe and Pedong at the head of the De Grey and Oakover and Fortescue Rivers.”
 These tribal territories extend towards the  Bunjima Tribe  but Withnell make no reference to them.  The Pedong Tribe also spelt as Peedong, occasionally appears in police patrol reports as a generic term for those Aborigines to the east of the settled pastoral district. A.R. Richardson published a book about the pioneers of the North West including the Murchison, Gascoyne, Pilbara and Kimberley and apart from an occasional reference to violent encounters and the effects of introduced disease, the Pilbara Aborigines barely rate a mention.

 
1. 4   E. Clement
11.
E. Clement
 enters the Pilbara region during the years 1896-99 and his published report includes a detailed account of the people he observed and a map of Pilbara Tribes (Map 3) that shows the territories of eight tribes, inland from Roebourne. The Maratunia Tribe is placed between the western flow of the Nickol and Fortescue Rivers; the Gnalluma Tribe is centred on Roebourne; The Katerra Tribe is on the northern boundary of the Gnalluma Tribe. The Gnalla Tribe is located between the western flow of the Turner and De Grey Rivers; the Ingibandi Tribe is to the south and east of the Gnalluma, the Gnama Tribe lies to the east of the Gnalla and is centred on Nullagine and finally, the Bulgu Tribe covers a vast tract of land south of the Ingibandi and takes in all but the western edge of the Hamersley Range including much of the land that Tindale assigns to the Bunjima. Clement’s article continues to 16 pages but my interest is only in his map and with the exception of the Gnalluma and Injibandi, his tribal names also disappear from the records to be replaced by others. 
1.5  Norman Tindale 
12.
In viewing the work of Norman Tindale I am attempting to view it as an historian and not venture into the anthropological debate and analysis. Tindale assisted by Joseph Birdsell, constructed a tribal map of Australia published in 1940.
 (Map 4) and a second and final map (Map 5) published in 1974 with Aboriginal Tribes of Australia. The former had broken borders and the later map has fixed i.e. unbroken line boundaries. Between the publication of these two maps Tindale revisited the Pilbara in 1953 and, with a Bunjima man as his guide, he sketched the two maps which I have submitted as Maps 6 and 7. 
  
13.
On Map 6 dated 7 May 1953, Tindale has shown the Tribes on the boundaries of the Pandjima territory as the  Injibandi, Njamal, Niabali & Pailgu, Kurama, Tjururo, Bailgu, Kudaidari, Inawonga and Narlawongu.  
14.
Tindale places within this map of unbroken boundaries (Map 6) a section of the Hamersley Range, the town of Wittenoom and, Coolawanyah, Hamersley, Mulga Downs and Duck Creek pastoral stations. The last two are close to the southern boundary,  and Rocklea pastoral station straddles southern Bunjima and northern Kurama. The stations on the fringes of this Bunjima map, moving clockwise from the western boundary, are the pastoral stations: Mt Stuart, Red Hill, Millstream, Mount Florance, Hooley,  Yandeyarra (north), Abydos, Woodstock, Warrie, Marillana (on the west) Poonda, and  Rocklea to the south. 

15.
A second sketch map of Bunjima with an unbroken border (Map 7) and dated 13 May 1953 appears to include Mt Florance, Hooley and Hamersley stations and the town of Wittenoom, with Hillside and Marillana stations straddling the boundary line.  A short line commencing at the south western boundary bisects Mt Florance and passes to the north of Hooley; this may be an error line or the beginning of a division of a northern and southern Bunjima. I have not seen Tindale’s explanation for this line.  Tindale’s journal of his Pilbara research, at page 29 dated 13 May 1953, has two brief notes with relevance to the Bunjima. The first places the Mandara Tribe within the eastern Punjima and there is a curious note:

 “MANDARA all died only a few of them; PANJIMA took their place.”

A second note written below the general map of the region reads: 
“Panjima came from Hamersley Range drove Bailgu out of Mulga Downs before white times.”

16.
The Mandara Tribe is not on Clement’s map and Tindale’s Bailgu may well be Clement’s Balgu Tribe. In Tindale’s Pilbara notes for 1953, page 627, he identifies his informant as Peter Maiaboy, a Bunjima man residing at Mt Florance, who admitted to Tindale that he spent most of his life in Injibandi country.
  With Peter’s guidance, Tindale mapped the Bunjima tribal territory which is described.
17.   The gorge leading to Hamersley Station from lower end of Coolawanya Station divides the Panjima from the Kurama, their western neighbours. The northern boundary is the top edge of the northern rim face of Hamersley Range; they did not go down into the gorges except near their sources except when they were driven by shortage of water in droughts. To the Northeast, their boundary extends along the Hamersley scarp to the Range across the Fortescue River (south branch) from the Kurdaidare? (Goodiandarri Hills) Mardjina Pool was a Punjima water.  They went east to the headwaters of Jandikudjina (Yandicoojina) Creek.  On the South they visited Juna Downs Station Perry’s camp – theirs.W. boundary fell just east of Mt Samson Milimili (Milli Milli Spring) was a Panjima water very permanent.  At Juno Downs and along Turee Creek their southern boundary, they met the Irawango also Inawonga.  East of them he knew the Narla or Narlawonga.  He only knows of them.

18.
At page 255 of Aboriginal Tribes of Australia (1974), Tindale offers a final description of Panjima:
Loc.:  Upper plateau of the Hamersley Range south of the Fortescue River; east to Weediwolli Creek near Marillana; south to near Rocklea, on the upper branches of Turee Creek east to the Kunderong Range.   In later years under pressure from the Kurama, they moved eastward to Yandicoogina and the Ophthalmia Range forcing the Niabali eastward.  They also shifted south to Turee and Prairie Downs driving out the Mandara tribe, now virtually extinct [‘Punduwana], a native place not yet located, was their main refuge water in very dry times; other refuges were in Dales Gorge and at [‘Mandjima] (Mungina Creek on maps).  They practiced both circumcision and subincision in their male initiation ceremonies.

Coord.:  118°15’E x 22°50’s

Area:      6,600 sq. m. (17,200 sq. km.).

Alt:         Mandanjongo (top people; applied by Njamal to plateau dwellers including the Pandjima and Indjibandi).  Bandjima (as pronounced by western tribespeople), Panjima, Pand’ima.

19.
The lack of correlation between what he noted in 1953 and that which is published in 1974 is puzzling. Tindale acknowledged the shifting boundaries and that a displaced ‘tribe’ has a domino effect on neighbours and he refers to the Bunjima taking possession of the country southeast of the Hamersley Range towards Prairie Downs and Turee Creek Stations.  One would then expect the borders to be dotted, that is broken, rather than the unbroken line that encloses Tindale’s 1974 Bunjima territory. He had a confirmed belief in defined boundaries along geographic lines, such as rivers and perhaps his conviction may be traced to 1925 when he submitted a map for publication. He describes that defining moment: 
20. 
“The editor to whom it was submitted refused to accept a map with finite boundaries, making the assertion, then popularly believed, that Aborigines roamed at will over the who country – free wanderers…From this time onward my attention was focused on items of information that had a bearing on territoriality.”
 
21.
The debate over fixed or flexible boundaries is raised in Nicolas Peterson’s, Tribes and Boundaries in Australia in which he captures the ideas expressed at a 1973 symposium to commemorate the thirty years of collaboration by Norman Tindale and his associate Joseph Birdsell. Both in their presentations defend fixed boundaries and Birdsell, after commenting on the ambiguous use of the term ‘tribe’, argued that the term describes a linguistic unit and not a political unit and offers a definition that may well have influenced Tindale’s final mapping of the Bunjima:

22.
.“The dialectal tribe, then, in Australia, consists of a group of contiguous bands, speaking a common dialect, and sharing a common culture through lines of patrilineal descent, patrilocal residence, and a cellular network of communications among its bands (Birdsell 1958). More simply, in Aboriginal terms the members of a tribe are ‘one blood’.
  

23.
 “I have endeavoured to give a clear picture of the distributions of all aboriginal tribes as they were prior to the onset of the major disruptions and displacements that have accompanied the coming of Western man during the nineteenth and early twentieth century” 

24.
Tindale has set as his objective the mapping of tribal boundaries as they were  presumed to be in 1829. He explains the shifting populations as a consequence of drought and the dominance of numerically powerful groups over the smaller ones and the change that occurs as a consequence of pastoral interests.
 

23.
It is not clear to me whether the 1974 map represents the Bunjima boundaries of 1829, the year of possession, 1864 the foundation year of pastoral settlement in the Pilbara or as told to him in 1953.  

26.
Tindale appears to be reconstructing the past from his contemporary informants and although he acknowledges Curr, Clement and Withnell in his main bibliography, they are not listed amongst his references for Bunjima and he obviously chose, contrary to his claim, to disregard some of the earliest naming and mapping and and ignore the on-going changes that he admits to.  
27.
In Chapter Two of Aboriginal Tribes of Australia, Tindale refers to the terms ‘Top people’ being those on the coast and ‘Bottom people’ for those further inland
  and in the following chapter he examples the Pilbara from the Indian Ocean to the headwaters of the Ashburton River.
 ‘Top people’ and “Bottom people’ were terms that Tindale found in use near Port Hedland. It may be possible that the Bunjima of 2010 give words meanings that Tindale would not recognise. ‘Top End’ and ‘Bottom End’ appear to me to combine the common dialectal criteria of Birdsell and a direction that Daisy Bates, considered acceptable. When placing Perth in a tribal context wrote:

28. 
 “The Perth people called themselves and were called by their neighbours Yabbaroo, meaning north and this term is used by all the southern tribes from this point along the coast almost to Cossack (about lat. 21º).  A Perth Yabbaroo will call the Gingin men Yabbaroo, the Gingin men calling the Champion Bay people Yabbaroo and so on Yabbaroo is the general term for north and north-west along the coast from Perth to Cossack and for some little distance inland.”

29.
Von Brandenstein takes this matter up in a 1967 Occasional paper, and would seem to challenge Birdsell’s claim that language defines the ‘Tribe’; and he states that some Pilbara groups use the points of the compass in their Tribal name and “There is also Jaburrara for the Northern Ngarluma’. 
 One of his maps showing the Bunjima language influence is included as Map 8.

30.
When we attempt a reconstruction of a ‘pre-settlement’ map in present time which was Tindale’s  stated objective, we are trying to push two feet into the one shoe; what was and what is.  Tindale acknowledges the effects of time, migrations, dispossession and human memory and how historic events will alter boundaries and that in the telling and retelling of stories  a tribal identity and tribal sub-divisions previously acknowledged by people of one era may be forgotten and new words will replace the old and the old words will take on new meanings  and the current  terms ‘Upper End’  and  ‘Bottom End’ may not be found in the literature of the past. To do so we are trying to interpret the present through the past, the reverse of Tindale who interpreted the past through the present. 

1.6  Conclusion 

31
Some of the anthropological records of the region were considered and, given that tribal boundaries were being mapped in the 19th century, it is surprising that the historical records consulted offered no information about the boundaries of the Bunjima or the names of those who identified as Bunjima in association with the Bunjima Trial Area. The earliest explorers in the region  showed no interest in tribal territories and did not inquire about the tribal identity of the people they encountered.  Amongst the pastoralist who took up leases in the Pilbara, John Withnell, with his private interest in tribal boundaries, was an exception to the general run of pastoralists. In the records of police patrols to the east of the Hamersley Range, variations of the  term ‘Pedong’ are occasionally seen as  a generic term for Aborigines coming in from the desert but the police records do not identify by tribe, those associated with the  Bunjima Trial Area. Apart from an occasional mission report published in the Annual Reports of the Protector of Aborigines, the records of the Aborigines Department(1898-1936), the Department of Native Affairs (1937-1954) and the Department of Native Welfare (1955-1972) are lacking in tribal terminology.  
32.
Sometimes, as in the case of the Carlton family of the East Kimberley, the station name becomes the family name
 and if one station is in the north and another in the south, it is possible that Tindale’s prediction is valid and that, “new tribal designations may arise in some areas, and old ones may fall into disuse” and his own map must be subject to the same process of change.   Tindale, in my opinion, creates language cages into which particular language groups are placed and it is naïve to expect them to stay there. I would expect that decades of association with a particular station property must surely establish within the associated families an identity determined by a blend of  language, custom and locality.    

SECTION TWO                SEA AND  LAND EXPLORATION

2.1 Introduction

32.
 The purpose of this subsection of my report is to establish a line of European contact with the Pilbara beginning with the earliest known coastal adventurers  and  progressing to the land explorations and the arrival of the pastoralists and the pearling masters in the 1860s.  A secondary objective is to establish, through the records of these early European contacts, that prior to the advent of pastoralism, the Pilbara was already occupied by a robust indigenous population. Bunjima country is far removed from the coast and coastal exploration had no apparent impact at all on the indigenous population in and near to the Hamersley Range.
2.2 William Dampier 1699
33.
During William Dampier’s second expedition in 1699 in command of the Roebuck, he explored a section of the west coast of Australia from Shark Bay to just north of Broome and he has the distinction of being the first European to describe the lifestyle and subsistence of the North West Aborigines.  He noted the hair belt encircling their waists, their bush shelters and the weapons that he likened to swords and lances. He observed that they appeared to form groups of twenty to thirty people, the elements of a society with accepted laws and shared customs and values.   He observed smoke rising from an island three or four leagues off shore and wrote, “Twas probable that on the island where the Smoak was there were Inhabitants, and fresh Water for them.”
  Dampier establish that the region was occupied but his  frank reporting of the bleak North West coast discouraged further British expeditions to the region until the 19th century.  
2.3 Nicholas Baudin 1803

34.
Two of best-known French coastal navigators, Nicholas Baudin and Louis de Freycinet were next on the Pilbara scene.  It was March 1803 when Baudin, in command of the Geographe, and de Freycinet with Casuarina, sailed north beyond Shark Bay
 and, on the 29th, anchored off Rosemary Islands.
  The French do not record sighting any human activity along the Pilbara coastline and although there is a sighting of columns of smoke he, unlike Dampier, does not attribute this to human activity.  De Freycinet landed on Depuch Island where he found ample fresh water but records no evidence of human occupation. 

2.4   Phillip Parker King 1818 

35.
Phillip Parker King makes a sound contribution to the coastal history of the Pilbara. He was accompanied by Boongaree aka Bungaree a young New South Wales Aboriginal.  Perhaps there was a misconception, seen later in the Western Australian police reports, that Aborigines across Australia shared a common language and Boongarie would be able to introduce King to any Aborigines they may encounter during the voyage around Australia.  
36.
On the 23rd February 1818, King was just south of the present town of Dampier and the following day, he anchored the Mermaid off Enderby Island.  A few days later they drew alongside three Aborigines
  straddling  logs and using their cupped hands as paddles and one  was seized by the hair and dragged aboard the ship for a closer inspection after which he was given a metal axe, some fishing line and, with a cap on his head and food in a bag  he has put back on his log.  King watched as he paddled to the shore where these strange gifts were examined by his companions and then abandoned.  The following day, when he and a party of sailors attempted to land on an island to obtain fresh water, they were threatened by about thirty men armed with spears and stones.  King withdrew.

2.5 John Lort Stokes 1840

37.
John Lort Stokes the commander of the Beagle explored Depuch Island on 9 June 1840 and about two kilometres from the beach, his crew discovered a welcome reservoir estimated to hold ‘six tons’ of potable water. Further exploration revealed several huts and now we have the first European observation of the Pilbara rock art. Stokes describes the discovery, “Much ability is displayed in many of these representations, the subjects of which could be discovered at a glance.  The number of specimens was immense, so the natives must have been in the habit of amusing themselves in this innocent manner for a long period of time.”
 On the mainland opposite to Depuch, the crew saw an armed party that resisted their attempts to land and, rather than engage them the crew returned to the Mermaid.  A crockery jar found on Turtle Island by this expedition may be evidence of visiting Maccassans.
  

2.6 Summary of coastal contact
38.
The journals of coastal exploration establish beyond doubt that the western sector of the Pilbara was well populated and that the men did not welcome the approach of strangers.  This is very much in contrast to the experiences of the same French and British expeditions stopping on the southern coast of Western Australia. The sightings of groups of people, with the men numbering thirty or more, would represent larger groups of more than fifty men, women and children. The early explorers of this region, whether coastal or across the land, made no effort to establish the tribal identity or record the names of key leaders.  We cross to the mainland to review the 1861 Gregory expedition into the Pilbara.
2.7   Francis T. Gregory

39.
Between 1861 and 1897, no fewer than nine expeditions of exploration traversed the Pilbara.  Most were organised by settlers seeking new lands and ever alert for an attack by Aborigines while others, such as Forrest (1874) and Giles (1875) were led by men seeking fame and fortune and the North West region is little more than an entry in their journals.  One of the few who actually saw the Hamersley Range was Government Surveyor Francis Gregory and I have included him because his report encouraged the government to open the North West to pastoralists. 
40.
The ship Dolphin carrying Francis Gregory and the Northwest Australian Exploring Expedition anchored off the mouth of the Maitland River on 13 May 1861 and on the next day they had their first contact with Aborigines who approached on log canoes.  Two accepted Gregory’s invitation to come on board the Dolphin where they remained as his guests for several hours.
 Four days later fourteen Aborigines visited the beach camp and when they refused to leave, they were frightened off with warning shots.
 The exploration of the country to the east of Nickol Bay commenced on 27 May and continued until the 19 October 1861.  The land route took them across the Maitland and Fortescue Rivers and past the Chichester and Hamersley Ranges as far east as the Oakover River.  Other rivers crossed or seen during this expedition included the Hardey, Sherlock, Ashburton, Yule, Strelley, De Grey and Harding.  Gregory was delighted at the potential for agriculture and the Aborigines were not a serious threat to settlement. Four days out from the base camp, he wrote: 
41. “We came upon a camp of fifteen or twenty natives, on the bank of a deep reach of water, hemmed in by steep rocky hills, up which they hastily scrambled on our approach, and on reaching the summit, tried by various gestures to express their disapproval of our visit, but would not hold any parley with us.”

42.
Gregory next followed the Fortescue River towards the Hamersley Range and apart from one family digging roots, he saw no Aborigines on this section of the survey and his journal makes no mention of smoke that may suggest the presence of Aborigines. The survey party returned to the base camp on 19th July and made preparations to explore the country to the east towards  the Oakover River.  Four days out from base, he saw a man hunting for mice who by signs informed them that there was very little water in the direction they were taking and this proved to be true.

43.
A few Aborigines were seen as they neared a tributary of the Oakover River and Gregory recorded one sighting: 
44.
“A large party of natives were encamped upon the watercourse down which we descended to the plain.  Not wishing to alarm them, we passed the waterholes from which they were supplied, and proceeded a mile further, but had in consequence to encamp without water, although amongst abundance of grass.”

45.
Gregory continued west along the De Grey and on 21 September he came upon another small group preparing for the evening meal of fish, rats, beans, grass-seed cakes, “and a beverage made with some oily seeds pounded.”
 The only serious confrontation occurred when eighteen men with spears shipped and ready to hurl, rushed the camp and were halted by a few warning shots.  In October 1861, the Sherlock River was explored and Gregory reported the area to be: 
46.
“Well supplied with water and grass; cockatoos and pigeons being seen in large numbers feeding on the banks.  As we approached the junction of the two branches of the river we met a party of ten or twelve natives, who came boldly up to us, which was the only time we had known them to do so since quitting Nickol Bay.  Hoping to gain some useful information from them, they were allowed to follow us to our old camp of 2nd August, where there are the large fish pools, of which they gave us the native names.  We were not quite so successful in procuring game here as on the former visit, although as much fish was caught as could be consumed while it was good.  The natives kept rather aloof while we were shooting on the river, but after dusk eight or ten came to the camp, unarmed, evidently on a thieving excursion, and although narrowly watched, managed to carry off a portion of Mr Hall’s kit, which, however, he recovered next morning on paying them an early visit, finding the articles buried under some rushes in their camp.”

47.
This expedition was significant in opening the northwest of Australia to pastoralists and although the gold discoveries in Victoria and New South Wales raised hopes in Western Australia of similar discoveries, Gregory however, missed the gold and found only small pieces of ironstone. What did impress his southern readers was his description of millions of hectares of land suitable for pastoral ventures. The Western Australian Executive Council must have agreed because in 1863 it offered a pastoral lease at discount rates  for the first settlers to take up a leases and stock them. Twenty years before, Governor Hutt attempted to prevent squatters moving too far beyond his supervision and control and the 1863 proposal would by-pass the Gascoyne to create a new settlement almost 2,000 kilometres north of Perth.  Walter Padbury, one of the wealthiest men in the colony, was the first to take up the offer and his confidence in the future of the Northwest inspired others to invest in pastoral and pearling ventures in what today is the Pilbara.  
2.8   E.T Hooley and others
48.
Edward Timothy (E.T.) Hooley’s fame in Western Australia was not so much his explorations but for pioneering a stock-route from Perth to the Pilbara.   In April 1865, he set out with three other settlers - Murray, Mount and Anderson - to explore the country to the east of Roebourne towards the Sherlock River.  The same party then explored the Hamersley Range and Duck Creek and towards the Ashburton, where “they met some Aboriginals whom they realised had never seen a horse before, the natives thought horse and man were one, when the men separated (dismounted) the natives took off into the bush leaving the white men unmolested to resume their journey, which took them as far south as the Ashburton River.”
  Apart from this one brief encounter with Aborigines, this expedition offers nothing for this report.  Hooley took up leases on what became Minderoo but hostile Aborigines forced him out and he sold it to the Forrest family.  E.T. Hooley was a Member of the Western Australian parliament from 1891 to 1900. 
2.9 Conclusion 
49.
What impact did these expeditions have on the Bunjima? None at all. I see it as an exercise in awareness and evaluation. The explorers expected to see and encounter Aborigines and came prepared with guns. The settler expeditions were interested in the land and water with sufficient water to survive a short drought. The Aborigines were a bonus for many taking up the leases. The Pilbara Aborigines saw the explorers as intruders and ordered them off their land and did not anticipate their return.

SECTION THREE       EMPLOYMENT IN THE PASTORAL STATIONS
3.1 Introduction 

50.
When Gregory was completing his report of explorations to the North West he foresaw the economic potential of the Aboriginal population and he wrote:  
51.
“As the number and disposition of the Aborigines is likely to have some effect on the first settlement of the district, I would give it as my opinion that these people will not prove troublesome to the settlers, if properly and fairly treated.  They are not numerous, and appear very willing to take employ under Europeans, and will no doubt soon be made as useful as in other districts.”
 
3.2   Did pearling have an impact on the Bunjima?
52.
The pastoral industry dominates the lives of the ancestors of the Bunjima people but the question as to whether they were literally dragged into the pearling industry is a possible no and a possible yes.  Ashburton family historian K. Forrest claimed that at least one pearling master, Donald McKay, relied upon Robert Shea - a notorious blackbirder - for a steady supply of divers and when Shea was  fatally speared, Thomas Mountain took over the lucrative human trade.
  Mountain was arrested in 1881 and held for trial for murder. Governor Robinson wrote in a memo, “Mountain is a notorious ruffian.  I hope there may be no breakdown in this case.”
  The case against Mountain was weak and postponed to the next Quarter Sessions and the outcome is not known. Mountain’s name came up again in 1886 when Sergeant Payne, the officer in charge of Roebourne police station, gave evidence to Magistrate Fairbairn who was inquiring into reports of the ill-treatment of Aborigines in the North West. Payne stated that some years before Mountain told him that he had brought a great number of Aborigines in from the bush and sold them to pearling masters for five pounds a head.
  Although circumstantial evidence points to Mountain hunting Aborigines in the Pilbara hinterland, the actual location of his activities has not been established. 

53.
In the years before deep diving was introduced and the industry moved north to Broome, Roebourne was the headquarters and here all Aborigines assigned to luggers were registered. The industry consumed indigenous labour and a sampling of three of the hundred or more luggers in 1886 has  the Annie Taylor with 50 Aboriginal divers, Willie had 34 and Harriet 31 men on board
  more men per lugger than employed on some of the smaller pastoral stations of the Pilbara and this demand for Aboriginal divers may well have encouraged men like Mountain to hunt in the Hamersley Range and take men not yet assigned to pastoral stations. However, as there is no evidence of  such activity in the Bunjima Trial Area I will proceed to the pastoral industry as  it concerned people and places within the Bunjima Trial Area for the period 1886 to 1954 when the legislated control of Aboriginal employment ceased.
3.3   The Masters and Servants Act 1842

54.
Before 1886 Aborigines were contracted under the Masters and Servants Act (Imperial) 1842 that was quite inappropriate for Aboriginal men and women making their first contacts with Europeans.  An person encountered on the leases may be assigned to a ‘master’ and if he ‘absconded’ it was a simple matter, when he was required  for a warrant to be issued for his arrest and, although he faced a maximum penalty of three months in jail it was usually more convenient for the constable to return him to his master than to work through the Court. 

55.
Attorney General Alfred Hensman informed the governor that “the hiring of Aboriginal natives for services with the settlers as domestic servants or labourers stands on the same footing as that of white persons” and he added that contracts with servants were regulated by the Masters and Servants Act 1842 (6Vic No. 5) and need not be in writing.
 In December1885 Governor Frederick Broome sought the opinions of Resident Magistrates and then decided that a better system of employment was long overdue.
3.4   The Aborigines Protection Act, 1886. 

56.
The Aborigines Protection Act (No 25 of 1886) introduced an employment system that required a standard form of agreement to bear the signature or mark of the employer and employee and to be witnessed by a policeman or a Justice of the Peace who would confirm, by his signature, that the person to be employed was sixteen years or older, that he understood the meaning of a contract and that it was entered into willingly. The contract period could not exceed twelve months and the employer was obliged to feed the Aboriginal employee and provide him or her with clothing and blankets and medicines and medical attention when necessary. 

57.
When the Bill was before the Legislative Council the main issue of debate was the minimum age of employment that Broome wanted set at 16 years of age. Horace Sholl, pearler and pastoralist was opposed to any age restrictions.  At sixteen, he argued, Aboriginal children were too old to be trained.  He was joined by Alex McRea, a pearling master and pastoralist, McKenzie Grant a Pilbara pastoralist and Mr Wittenoom who wanted the employing age reduced to ten years.  Grant told the House, 

58.
“On some stations they [Aboriginal children] were found useful at seven or eight years old minding sheep, or guarding cattle or horses - and they dearly love to get on horseback; and in this way, they gradually become domesticated.”

59.
The age was fixed at sixteen years and the agreement system remained in force until 1905, it is likely, however, that pastoralists continued to employ under-age children and it may be significant that Charles Straker, a former Pilbara pastoralist who was a Travelling Inspector of Aborigines in 1892, classified as adults all males and females above the age of five years.  In the vicinity of the Hamersley Range, which forms an important part of this report, some Aborigines chose not to resign when the term of employment ended. Travelling Inspector of Aborigines, George Olivey, was at Hamersley station in 1901. Employment contracts, or agreements in accord with the 1886 Aborigines Protection Act, were drawn up during his visit and he witnessed the marks.  Two or three workers decided that they needed a change and refused to place their mark to the contracts and it suggests to me that Aborigines on this station seemed to grasp the significance of this agreement and the legal penalties for absconding - that could include a whipping.   Olivey’s explanation was recorded:

60.  
“One or two of the others reckoned they wanted a change. Young fellows often make this a reason for not signing, very seldom making any complaint against their treatment in any way.  This tendency to wander about seems to be on the increase, several owners have lost young natives when they were very useful, they being led away by smooth-tongued whites, in many instances.” 

61.
Only occasionally does one gain an insight into the treatment and organisation of Aboriginal labour and although the one below sounds too good to be practical its importance for this report is the attachment of the workers to a station that is closely associated with the Bunjima territory. It is 1902 and Mr Robertson, the lessee of Mt Florance station, is writing an idyllic account of his relationship with the station workers addressed to the Chief Protector of Aborigines:
62. 
“I have about 40 natives here all told and they seem happy and contented all the natives working on the station are fed 3 times a day at the ration table and I often tell them if they have not have had sufficient they have only to say so and they will be given more.  They are clothed shirts and boots and a coat in winter.  Tobacco, wooden pipes, matches, also 10 / each boy receives when he goes to Town.  A month’s holiday or more if they like is given each native in a year.  And leaving for a holiday they received flour, tea and sugar, a gun and ammunition. But they seldom stay away for a month.  I have been working some of these natives for 18 years and they give very little trouble.  The native shepherds are rationed every 4 days with flour, tea, sugar and a quarter of fat mutton and tobacco.

63. 
I never interfered with their tribal customs.  That is to say if one of my natives give their daughter to a native on some other station and the father and mother of the child are both willing for the girl to be given that native or his wife they have only to say so to me. Many of the natives now on this station have been born and grown up on the place and I think they would take a lot of prodding to leave it, and I only wish you could come up and see for yourself how I treat the natives. The 3 blind women who are being supplied with Government rations are in good health at present but are more feeble each year.

Thinking this may be of use to you in future references.

I remain

Yours faithfully

A. Robertson”

3.5    The Aborigines Act 1905

64.
Towards the end of 1904, the Aborigines Protection Bill was debated in the Western Australian House of Assembly.
  The major shift in labour management was to be from agreements to permits.  Mr Sholl, the Member for the North-West, preferred to see Aborigines freed from any regulation and able to operate in a free market, “no doubt where the Act is intended to apply settlers are employing natives; but many settlers in the North are not employing natives at all...”.

65.
The Aborigines Act, 1905 introduced a two level permit system. A single permit, most common in the southwest, was a contract between employer and employee signed in the presence of a local police officer.  Pastoral stations were able to apply for a general permit, issued from the local police station, for a stated number of Aboriginal employees and this legally bound the station manager to provide adequate food and medical care and ensure that the workers were suitable accommodated. These conditions were rarely met by pastoralists until the years after the Second World War when they found themselves competing for suitable employees. 
3.6 Native Administration Act 1936
66
This Act, an amendment to the 1905 Act, retained the dual permit system and added many pages of regulations.
 Permits must now be renewed annually on the 30 June.  A general permit was issued to a named station manager, reported to be of good character to employ Aborigines, and could not be transferred to a new manager who must make a new application. Furthermore, where a company owned two pastoral stations, Section 65 of the Act applied, “necessitates the issue of separate permits for each holding where natives are employed at a distance of over 30 miles from the customary homestead or when the branch of the pastoral company is under separate management or oversight.”
 This regulation prevented pastoralists taking Aboriginal workers away from what may be their traditional territory and relocating them permanently on another station at a considerable distance from kinsfolk and the home territory. Regulation 81 stipulated that the employer provide workers with accommodation, bedding and even mosquito netting and ground sheets as required.  The food was to be suitable, substantial and sufficient. A pastoralist could supply the worker with blankets, clothing and boots in lieu of or in part payment of wages providing that the quality and quantity was approved of by the Chief Protector who now had the title, Commissioner of Native Affairs. Station managers were required to contribute to a medical fund and when more than six persons were employed, a regulation medical box was to be maintained. These were regulations that could never be monitored because the Department of Native Affairs was centralised and grossly understaffed and must continue to rely upon police officers on patrol and medical officers conducting routine checks to report any irregularities.  
67.
In my search of the records of the Aborigines Department and the Department of Native Affairs prior to 1951, I have not found one pastoral station that met the conditions required by the regulations.  Most station employees and their families lived in bush camps at a distance from the stations homestead sleeping on the ground under makeshift shelters or in humpies made from cast off materials. The common diet was damper, meat, tea and sugar with an issue of tobacco. Between 1951 and 1971 the pastoral stations close to Pilbara towns were inspected most years and the reports of the field officers provide important information about the conditions of employment, the wages paid and the names, ages and relationships of all the Aboriginal people on each station. Unfortunately, the more remote stations such as Mulga Downs, Marillana, Juna and Rocklea were not inspected every year.  The data obtained from my examination of these reports has been converted to the tables that accompany my report as Attachment 1 a, b, c, d, and e. 
68.
It is rare to find the local protector given instructions that a particular station may use single permits, rather that a general permit.  The CPA, in a letter to Constable Markey of Roebourne concerning the lessees of Tambrey station wrote, “permits must be issued in the personal name of the individual working the natives, owing to the need to proceed against the responsible individual in the case of any breach of the Act or Regulation.”
  Although copies of all permits were held by the local protector and a copy filed at the Head Office in Perth, the master file and district records have not survived.
3.7  Conclusion

69.
In the first decades of the 20th century the permit system gave the appearance of control of Aboriginal employment but on remote stations such as those in the Bunjima territory there was very little supervision. It was a piece of paper without names and determined how many people could be legally employed and not who was employed. The permit system was abolished in 1954 and from that year on Aboriginal workers were free to sell their labour to the manager who offered the best wages and conditions and, as shown in the next section of this report, some former station workers became independent contractors employing family members and negotiating short-term contracts with station managers.

SECTION FOUR          PASTORAL STATIONS 
4.1 Introduction
70.
In the forty years after 1864, a number of  unstocked leases lapsed and were  bought up by neighbours eager to expand their station boundaries and by the end of  the century it was not uncommon for one company to own two or more pastoral stations; Charles Straker is an example in the 19th century with Hamersley and Coolawanyah stations and Lang Hancock in the second half of the 20th century with Hamersley and Mulga Downs in his portfolio.
 Multiple ownership meant that some companies moved Indigenous staff between stations as the need arose.   The practice was discouraged by the Chief Protector and the work permits applied to a single station but it happened.  When George Olivey visited Nanutarra station on 3 August 1900, he recognized several shearers who had worked for him when he managed a different station on the Ashburton
 and when Higham purchased Nantarra, he retained some of his best workers. The Aborigines Act 1905, sought to stop this practice by restricting the employment permit to workers on the station. 
71.
Travelling inspectors were phased out by 1914 and, except for a three year period between 1925 and 1928 when Ernest Mitchell was a travelling Inspector, the Aborigines Department functioned with a staff of about five people located in Perth and a corps of police officers, at least one for every district who served as honorary protectors of Aborigines; an unenviable task when a constable may be required to arrest, prosecute and ‘protect’ the same person.  Mr Francis Bray succeeded Neville in 1941 and, from then until 1951, stations visits are irregular and the reports are usually brief.  One tour of the stations in 1944, possibly by Deputy Commissioner McBeath, took in Mt Florance where Mr R. Andrews employed twelve of the seventeen Aborigines counted on the station.
  

72.
In 1948 Stanley Middleton was appointed Western Australian Commissioner for Native Affairs and undoubtedly influenced by his Papua New Guinea experiences, divided Western Australia into districts and appointed a  field officer to each with instructions  that, weather and circumstances permitting,  they conduct annual inspections of all pastoral stations and missions to record the names, ages and relationships of Aboriginal people resident and note their working and living conditions.  These census reports flow through the years 1951 to 1972 but not all stations have a continuous record. Similar inspections in the Northern Territory included the tribal identification of adults but this unfortunately, was not included in the information to be gathered from Western Australian pastoral stations and missions.
73.
The pastoral industry spread across the Pilbara and many Aboriginal families established an attachment to specific stations that can be traced through several generations. Whether or not this is the case with the Bunjima I am not in a position to offer an opinion because I have not had access to their genealogies. Within the boundary of the present Bunjima Trial Area are Mulga Downs, Juno Downs and Marillana pastoral stations and as the census records indicate a mobile workforce in the years after 1954 I will include brief descriptions of Mount Florance, Hamersley and  Rocklea. 
74.
The station files for the first half of the 20th century are patchy and refer to medical or delinquent matters or part Aboriginal children nominated for removal to the Moore River Native Settlement about 200 kilometers north of Perth.  The census data of the period 1951-1971 suggest that greater personal mobility between pastoral stations with named persons appearing on the census reports for more than on station (see Attachments 1). Unfortunately the census reports for the stations associated with the Bunjima Trial Area  are not continuous and this makes any statistical analysis inconclusive.  In 1954 the permit system of employment was abolished, Aboriginal contractors appear on the station census reports, indigenous access to schools became a government goal and children associated with a station and occasionally a mother, are listed at a school hostel or Roebourne reserve. The restrictions on access to aged pensions were eased and as more pensioners chose the town reserve to the station camp, the diminishing number of pensioners recorded on pastoral station census supports this point of view.
75.
The station profiles will commence with the earliest relevant records that, in most cases, are those of Aborigines Inspector Charles Straker who was engaged by the Aborigines Protection Board (APB created under the Aborigines Protection Act 1886) to report on northern pastoral stations and Beagle Bay Mission, which was subsidised by the APB. Straker had worked on Pilbara pastoral stations for about eleven years and in reading his reports one must be cognisant of him having to maintain a balance between allaying the APB concerns about reports of ill-treatment of Aborigines and at the same time not alienating the pastoralists who saw him as one of their own. 
4.2 Mulga Downs station 
76.
Mulga Downs station lies about 354 kilometres southeast of Roebourne and was a small station owned by Hester & McRae until it was bought by the Lockyer Bros.  Charles Straker inspected this station on 29 October 1892 when it was managed by Reginald Hester with three white staff and forty-four Aborigines of varying ages.
  Straker reported that the health of the Aborigines at Mulga Downs was “first rate” and only two deaths were recorded since the station was established and both were people old and feeble. 

77.
White staff supervised several shepherd camps that was commonly a man, his wife or wives and their children. Straker listed all persons above 5 years of age as adults recording 20 males, 16 females and 8 children less than five years for a total of forty-four.  He made no mention of the elderly or people on rations and noted that Mulga Downs was, “the farest out (sic) of any station this way.” 

78.
 Straker inspected the Aborigines “at their different camps” and it should be noted that Straker refers to multiple camps rather than a single ‘native’s camp’ that could be the shepherd camps or station camps representing different Bunjima factions.  It is also possible that being the station “farest out” Mulga Downs may be receiving Aborigines migrating from the eastern regions. As stated previously, Straker did not identify the Pilbara Aborigines by tribe or language so we do not know who was in these different camps. 
79.
The numbers and classification of people requires comment.  The first observation is that the total given by Straker is surprisingly low for a pastoral station when all those in the different camps and their extended families are considered and the second observation is the age of separating children from others.  When the Aborigines Protection Act 1886 was debated in the Western Australian Legislative Council, some Members argued that the ‘training’ of a station employee begins before the age of eight and in Straker’s reports the age of five years separates the children from others and perhaps the training was already under way. The tasks were common to other Pilbara stations and the workers were signed on renewable twelve-month agreements set by the Aborigines Act 1886.  No money was paid.  Straker continues: 
80.
“Employment: In company with Mr. Hester I have been out on the "runs" & seen the natives at their different work. They are occupied at the usual Stn work, shepherding, stock hunting, bullock driving & water drawing being at the present time the work upon which they are mostly engaged. The work of course varies at different periods of the year & at times, many natives are fencing, well sinking & other station work of a similar nature. The practice here is to keep all the natives on the place at regular steady work.” 

81.
‘Shepherding’ implies looking after unfenced flocks yet Straker makes no mention of shearing which, in the Gascoyne, was undertaken by Aboriginal employees within two years of the leases being stocked.  Bullock driving refers to the team of bullocks harnessed to the large wagons to haul the bales of wool to the coast.  Straker describes the food ration:  
82. 
“The stock hunters, bullock drivers & all natives who work from the homestead are fed from the house & receive bread meat & good sweetened tea, the outside natives shepherds &c are rationed & receive 1 lb flour, 1/2 lb meat each individual per day, with 2 lbs sugar 1/41b tea & a stick of tobacco once a week.  I saw the house natives fed & rations put 
up for the outside division & am quite satisfied the quantity & quality left nothing to be desired.”

83.
There is no mention of rations for the families of workers and, given the distance from the port and the total weight of rations, Straker - a former Pilbara pastoralist - may be rather generous in his report.  Clothing was next: 
84. 
“Clothing. The house boys & indeed all the more civilized natives well clothed but I noticed that amongst the shepherds & water drawers clothing was conspicuous by its absence.  I called Mr. Hester's attention to this fact & told him that in all cases where natives are employed your Board expect them to be decently clad. He told me he would see it was done in the future & explained that the natives whom I saw without clothes were some who had but recently come in from the hills & had not had clothes given them, whilst others had received clothes but given them away to bush natives.  Before I left the Station I saw clothes being sent out to all these natives.”

85.  In my opinion, given his experience in the Northwest, Straker would have had few personal concerns about naked Aborigines who may prefer not to be encumbered by foreign garb and his expressed concerns about clothing is catering to city sentiments and notions of morality.  I would see three points of interest in the above paragraph; Hester has already established a station hierarchy based on the degree of ‘civilization’ with house boys being the most trusted, shepherds chosen for their reliability and not likely to wander off and the menial yet essential station tasks of drawing water and the ‘bush natives’.   I can conclude from this that the drift of ‘bush natives’ onto the stations in this eastern Tableland district is ongoing but I cannot state whether these are associated with the Bunjima Trial Area, a separate division of Bunjima or a quite different ‘tribal’ group attracted from the Hamersley Range or from further to the east and onto Mulga Downs station. 

86.
Straker’s report is one of the few to capture both the voluntary ‘coming in’ of traditional Aborigines and the continuing pursuit of labour by pastoralists of this era drawing  unattached bush Aborigines out of the Hamersley range and onto the station ensuring an adequate pool of workers for  present and future needs. Straker also observed small groups who showed no interest in ‘coming in’ and those who accepted the invitation to work on the station and continue to exercise a right to take a ‘holiday’ when it suited them. Another point of interest is that those who take the opposite line and choose not to go bush during the seasonal layoff and given the distances that flour must be hauled from the nearest port it would suit the pastoralist to be free of all who were surplus to the immediate needs of the station. Hester explained this to Straker, “During the year all natives are allowed to have a holiday if they wish, but many of them don't care to go away.  The Manager tells me that last year after the rain he would have been glad to let nearly the whole lot go away for two to three months but they did not care to do so and so were allowed to remain.”
 

87.
Anthropologist Von Sturmer
 observed on Australian Aboriginal settlements the existence of black and white domains, like a Venn diagram where Aborigines, teachers, missionaries and even pastoralists interact only in particular situations such as at school, in church, at the work parade and shared activities such as mustering. These are domains determined by language and cultural differences. Aboriginal people had very little input into the decisions made in the white domain and pastoralists and others were rarely invited into the Aboriginal cultural domain and consequently few understood or even wanted to understand the complex relationships of the Aboriginal domain. Thus, we know something of the pastoralists domain through reports, correspondence, biographies, autobiographies and local histories but only in recent years are we gaining access to the Aboriginal domain through their stories and memories. On that basis and from information drawn from the station reports it is not possible to know what was happening during the seasonal holidays.  
88.
An important comparison to be drawn from Straker’s reports is the term of station residence on stations nearest  to the coast and those further inland. Straker observes that ‘some few’ of the Aborigines on Mulga Downs in 1892 were those employed by the original owners, Hester and McRae,  and one is left wondering if the original workers moved on or their numbers reduced by disease and this may be a reason for Hester  to recruit workers from those in the range.  Straker continues: 

89. “Some few of the natives here were in the service of the former owners & remained on with Lockyer Bros when that firm bought the Station. Since then a good number of natives have come in from the [Hamersley] Range & entered the service of Lockyer Bros.  Mr. Hester says he has gone out & seen natives & asked them to come in but most emphatically denies having at any time brought natives against their wish, indeed it would be impossible to keep natives against their inclination as they could any time within a few hours get into the Hamersley Range where it is next to impossible to catch them if they wish to avoid being caught. Some of the natives who have been asked to come in have refused to do so as they preferred their free bush life, but as a rule they are glad to come & Mr. Hester says he could at any time go out or send work by other natives & he could get numbers more to come in.”

90.
The troublesome Aborigines were not those on the station but those still in the hills – the Hamersley Range.  Straker usually included a comment about employee behavior under the subtitle ‘Conduct’ as assessment of compliance and not manners.  Erving Goffman, in Asylums, a study of institutionalized behavior, observed that persons entering an institution have a presenting culture and the role of the institution is to replace the presenting behavior with that which conforms to the institution rules of good conduct.
 Hester classified Aborigines by the shift from savage to civilized and part of that shift was their self-discipline and obedience to the master. Somewhat like Robinson Crusoe who finds a ‘savage’ on his island, gives him the name of Friday because that was the day upon which he was found, and the first word he teaches Friday is ‘Master’. 
91.
In the past, Mulga Downs shepherds took to killing sheep, possibly being persuaded into doing so by some of the bush natives, and the offenders were arrested and prosecuted. But that was in the past.  Police patrols, this far inland, were rare and Straker continues, “Mr. Hester says he has often to chastise natives himself but on no account allows any abuse, and I am sure from my own observation Mr. Hester is a kind and humane master and as such the natives themselves speak of him.  The chief source of trouble here is from hill natives coming in and leading the Station natives into mischief.”
 Hester through the words of Straker offers some information about the ‘bush natives’ of the Hamersley Range:

92.  “From time to time natives from the Hamersley Range come in & give a great deal of trouble.  Last year a large number of both sheep & cattle were killed by these blacks & they cause a lot of trouble by coming & loafing on the shepherds as they consume their rations & lead them into all sorts of mischief.  There have been several warrants taken out for the chief offenders & Mr. Hester complains that no attempt is made to arrest these men.  There are a large number of bush natives in the Range up this way.  Some time ago forty came into the Station with the avowed intention of killing all the white men, they succeeded in spearing one Chinaman & in breaking both his arms & would doubtless have killed him but they were disturbed.  Just lately they have sent in a message to the effect that shortly they would come in & kill all the white men & native men & take away the women. This upsets the natives who are at work very much & it also makes the Chinamen much afraid.  Mr. Hester is anxious that a Constable should be stationed upon the Tableland & patrol all this part as the bush natives can only be kept in subjection by this means”

93.  This extract in quite important for the Bunjima history in that it comes at a time when the western Pilbara was patterned by pastoral leases.  Elsewhere, the process of coming onto the stations was almost complete and the Aboriginal people within the boundaries of pastoral stations were regarded as ‘belonging’ to those stations. Hester at Mulga Downs has no such sense of exclusive possession and is uncertain of his ability to retain the employees that have already come into the station and he is certainly at a loss to know how he can control those still maintaining a traditional existence in the Hamersley Range. 

94.  Straker’s mention of the Tableland requires some comment. Tableland is the high country as one leaves Roebourne and travels towards the Hamersley Range.  In later records, the use of ‘Tableland’ to describe the inland region is dropped and ‘Tableland’ becomes associated with a police station of that name situated about 160 kilometres from Roebourne on the track to Coolawanyah and Mt Florance.  
95.
The Northern Public Opinion for 19 November 1898 reported that a sample of North West
 asbestos was sent to Sydney for analysis but it was not worked commercially until 1935 and in the years following as many as 300 non-Aboriginal men extracted blue asbestos from the walls of Wittenoom and Yampire Gorges.
  In 1943, Lang Hancock of Mulga Downs held a permit to employ twenty Aborigines and put some to mining asbestos in Yampire Gorge Hamersley Range. In the Marble Bar and Moolyella districts, there was a long tradition of Aborigines fossicking for gold and yandying tin for sale or to exchange for goods but the men Hancock put to the asbestos were the only cases I have found for the Bunjima area. In the 1950s, Aboriginal men were said to be loading the bags of asbestos on and off the trucks but their names are not known to me.  Francis Bray, Commissioner of Native Welfare, was not happy about Aborigines of 1943 working on asbestos:  

96. “From the entry of Japan into the war it has been the policy of the Department that no natives are to be attracted from pastoral or rural industries to any other types of employment and a circular instruction is ultimately sent out about this policy on 16 June 1943, but I am in doubt whether it was sent as far north as Roebourne...I am not prepared under any consideration whatsoever to allow natives to be attracted from rural or pastoral employment for work on the asbestos deposits.”

97.
In July 1943 Mulga Downs was inspected and a check made of the asbestos mining where 32 men were mining Wittenoom Gorge and 45 were in Yampire Gorge.  No Aborigines were employed and do not frequent the gorges. In August the following year, Mulga Downs had a resident population of thirty-three Aborigines of which twenty-four were  employed at one pound per week cash, plus food but the station did not clothe their workers, perhaps due to wartime clothing rationing and did not, at that time, provide huts or any other form of accommodation.

98.
The files of the Department of Native Welfare pertaining to Mulga Downs survive for the years 1962, 1963, 1965, 1966, 1967, 1970 and 1971.  In 1962 the station, then owned by Lang Hancock and managed by J. Hooson, employed eleven men and four women.  There were also three pensioners, two children and two women who were classed as dependants.
  The top station hand received seven pounds per week and keep while female domestics were on two pounds a week and keep.  In 1971, the station employed only five men with the highest paid receiving $50 per week from which the manager deducted $9.42 for keep and $5.00 tax.  None of the men employed in 1961 appear to have remained with the station.  Only Blanche Tucker was resident at the station for both inspections.  

99.
Living conditions at Mulga Downs were better than conditions on other stations in the region and the NWD officer regarded it as a model for its neighbours to emulate.   Workers had access to a two roomed shower block, septic toilets and were housed in corrugated steel framed huts with concrete floors.  Blanche Tucker and her two children had a two-roomed house with a bathroom of which the NWD officer noted, “this is quite comparable with normal station quarters for white employees.”  By 1971, the station had added a kitchen and dining room with meals for the Aboriginal staff prepared by a white cook.  The general comments by R. W. Hart, the NWD Officer, show that conditions at Mulga Downs were reasonable and that Award wages were paid. Hart noted, “The manager did point out however, that Aboriginal staff generally did not represent value for money in terms of the wages now paid and that his staff at present had resulted from a trial and selection process and justified their wages in the most part.  Conditions and wages on this station make it about the best in the district.”

4.3 Hamersley station
100.
In 1912 when Dr James Battye edited The History of the North West of Australia, Charles Straker was the owner of both Hamersley and Coolawanyah stations.
.  Hamersley is described as on the southern side of the Hamersley Range and about 240 kilometres southeast of Roebourne and was 500,000 acres running 20,000 sheep, 1500 cattle and 500 horses. Coolawanyah was smaller having only 140,000 acres.  When Straker inspected Hamersley in 1892 it was owned by McRae & Thompson and managed by Guy Thompson who had the assistance of two white men supervising the shepherd camps and distributing rations to the out-camps.  The station employed surprisingly few Aboriginal workers and Straker counted only six males over the age of five years, seven females over the age of five years and only two children under that age to give a total of fifteen.  All appeared to be healthy but amongst the bush Aborigines in the Hamersley Range there was a very high incidence of venereal disease.  The work tasks at Hamersley were common to most Pilbara stations and included fencing, drawing water for the homestead and stock and some shepherding.
101.
The food distribution was different from other stations and those working well away from the homestead were rationed twice a week and those working at and around the homestead were fed three meals each day all receiving meat, flour, tea, sugar and tobacco.  Unlike the scene at Mulga Downs, all but two workers, a shepherd and his wife, were suitably clothed and issued with a blanket. Their conduct was noted by Straker:

102.
“Mr. Thompson had little complaint to make with regard to the natives he employs. He pointed out to me one native who had received a flogging ordered by Mr. Keep, when that gentleman visited the Hamersley to witness the execution of Coppin's murderer. Mr. Thompson says the effect was most salutary & since then this native had ceased to steal, a habit to which he was much given & for which he was sentenced to be flogged. From time to time, there is trouble from the shepherds being led astray by bush men & once or twice shepherds have absconded. At the present time one is away & a Warrant has been issued for his arrest.”
 

103
The report on the bush natives has particular relevance for this Bunjima Trial Area and, as indicated in the Mulga Downs profile, it is twenty-eight years after settlers arrived in the Pilbara and yet the Aborigines of the Hamersley Range have not come into the stations of their own accord and continued to resist all attempts to lure them from the ranges and into the station camps.  Straker continues:
104.
“Within & about the Hamersley Range there are a large number of bush natives who refuse to work for any master.  When Mr. Thompson first bought the Hamersley station, he tried to induce some of these bushmen to come in & settle with him.  On two or three different occasions, a number of them came in & were fed & supplied with clothes & sent out with other civilised natives to be taught to shepherd.  They would remain a week or fortnight & get fat & then without any cause what ever except their disinclination for work, they would clear out.  Mr. Thompson tried this so often that at last he got disgusted & has ceased to try & civilise any of these people & now refused to allow them to camp on the "runs" or at any of the waterholes so far as he can avoid doing so.  I told him he must not drive the natives away from water holes & he replied that it is impossible to permit them to lay about as they are perpetually robbing huts & committing all sorts of thefts.  Mr. Thompson says that with the exception of a few sheep he does nothing they have killed much of his stock, but they scare his shepherds & steal so much from them that makes him so indignant against them.  Out of the whole tribe of hill natives here Mr. Thompson has only succeeded in civilising one native & his woman.  This native has now been shepherding for some five years having a holiday when he desires one.  During the whole period of service he has only absconded once, & then returned of his own accord after a time.  Mr. Thompson says he has gone out & brought in some of the younger natives thinking that they might take to the place & work but the parents always come in & remove them at night.  This tribe of natives are not stationary in the Range but travel too & fro between that part & the Upper Ashburton & belong to the same people who sometime ago murdered the half-caste Coppin.  Warrants have frequently been taken out for some of the ringleaders but Mr. Thompson complains that no effort is made by the police to arrest these offenders.
 He would much like to see a police patrol as he thinks that the most effective method of keeping these blacks in order.

105.
The Aborigines Protection Board was abolished by the Western Australian Parliament in 1897 and replaced by an Aborigines Department with Henry Prinsep as the first Chief Protector of Aborigines.  Under his administration, three travelling inspectors were appointed and one, George Olivey, visited the Pilbara in February 1901. 
   

106.
There is a nine year gap between Charles Straker’s visit in 1892 and the arrival of Travelling Inspector George Olivey and by then Charles Straker was co-owner with A.J. Allen who was the manager.  That year,  Hamersley employed 26 men and 26 women and Olivey counted nine 9 children, which is not many for that number of adults.  It is puzzling why there was only one elderly person on the station and it is possible that those too old to work had been sent off the station to Tableland feeding depot.
 

4.4 Mt Florance station
107.
Mt Florance, of about 400,000 acres, was taken up by William Robinson in 1884 and Robinson was still the owner in October 1892 when Charles Straker inspected the property.   Robinson and his sons also had a share of Coongan Station that is well to the south and between Mount Goldsworthy and Marble Bar.  The Aborigines on Mount Florance had come in from the bush at different times but all belonged to the district.
  The ‘bush’ Aborigines inhabiting the Hamersley Range were a nuisance and Straker was told that the workers, were “occasionally led astray by outlaw bush natives who come in from the Hamersley Range and loaf on the shepherds eating their rations and inducing them to leave their flocks to go to corroborees.”
  Straker’s observations on the relationship between the ‘bush natives’ and station managers is in stark contrast to that sometimes seen in the Kimberley records where bush Aborigines were driven off the property.  The stations around the Hamersley Range regarded these ‘bush natives’ as potential labour to be coaxed out of the hills and into the station labour pool:   
108.
“He has often tried to induce them to come in and stay with him as he could find work for several more natives than he has in his employ at present.  On several occasions they have come in and professed to be willing to stay and work, but they only remain a short time and leave for the hills again and as a rule take with them clothes, cups, tea which belong to the station natives.  Mr Robinson has long since given up all idea of trying to civilise these people he considers them hopeless and will not allow them to camp with his natives so far as he can prevent it.  It is notorious that these natives kill sheep and cattle besides making the natives who are employed very unsettled and are all round a great source of annoyance.”

109.
Inspector Olivey inspected Mount Florance in February 1901 when the  station’s Aboriginal population numbered 37 made up of  thirteen men aged 26 to 50, thirteen women aged 16 to 50, a boy of 16, five boys aged 9 months to 10 years, three girls aged 2 years to 14 years and  two part Aboriginal boys aged 5 and 6. Olivey makes no mention of the ‘bush natives’ so it is possible that in the nine years since Straker’s visit they had ‘come in’ to one or more of the fringing pastoral stations.
    

110.
There are now large gaps in the station records and the few that exist are from police responding to settler complaints or are the reports to the Chief Protector about part-Aboriginal children in station camps. In January 1931, about 110 Aborigines, previously at Lonsdale, were camped at Mt Florance station and getting very short of food.
  The following year, there was a large gathering on Coolawanyah station and the manager, Parsons, reported that  about 130 Aborigines from Roy Hill, Marillana and other stations in the district  were holding  a corroboree.  The constable investigating the complaint noted in his journal that the source of the problem was that when there was little or no work stations took their workers off the ration list and sent them off to the bush to fend for themselves.
 
4.5 Rocklea Station
111.
Rhonda McDonald offers a brief sketch of Rocklea lessees and the Aboriginal people associated with this station and Juna.
  Rocklea was taken up by W.H. Cusack in 1916 and three years later, when the estate was 227,300 acres, it was transferred to Oscar and Frederick Smith and remained with the Smith family until 1951 when it was sold to the Troy family. McDonald refers to  hundreds of Aborigines being on Rocklea but such numbers are not supported by Native Welfare reports and taking into consideration what is required to feed 100 people, Rocklea was not a wealthy station and could not support that number of people. It is my opinion that it more likely that such numbers were at Rocklea during the holiday season to participate in ceremonies. Such gatherings are mentioned in Karijhini Mirlimirli.  The curse of the dingoes amongst the sheep forced the Smiths to sell the last of their flock and restock with cattle. In the next twenty-two years, Rocklea was with John Cairstairs and Peter Murray and then the Bettini family, who sold the property to the Hamersley Iron Ore  Company which continues to hold the lease.  

112.
In July 1944 Rocklea Station accommodated 38 Aborigines, 18 of who were employed and living at the camp, not in built accommodation, and were paid in food, clothing and tobacco for themselves and for their dependants.
 

113.
McDonald regards ‘Juno’ as the word for ‘ghost’, according to McDonald, and the area was avoided by Aborigines until about 1950s when George Parks, said to have a number of Aboriginal descendants, took his own workers from Rocklea to Juno Downs station and some continued on the payroll when the Herbert family bought the lease.
4.5
Conclusion
114
The failure of successive governments and administrators to insist on the registration of the births, deaths and marriages of Aboriginal people
 has left large gaps in the records.  A glance at the profiles in Noel Olive’s book, Karijini Mirlimirli reveals many people, some born less than sixty years ago, who have no knowledge of their birth year.  The ages of the elderly on a station would be estimated by the pastoralist or by the Field Officer compiling the report and the date of birth entered as the first of July of the estimated birth year. In the 1950s Commissioner Middleton, required every Aboriginal in Western Australia in contact with missions and pastoral stations to have both a given name and a family name and in many instances, the existing given name or nickname became the family name.  However, as seen in Attachment ,  many stations did not comply with this instruction. This random naming and age estimations became a trail of confusion when elderly people applied for an age pension.   Using these station reports and other documents, I have listed more than 400 names, some repeated, of men, women and children found in the documents searched for this report as Attachment 1 a, b, c, d, e.  Each entry has a unique number for reference purposes. Stations acknowledged on these lists include Mulga Downs, Hamersley, Mount Florance, Hooley, Coolawanyah, Juna Downs, Marillana and Rocklea. Attachment 1 is explained at Section 6.7 pp. 65-67 of my report. Simply stated: Att.1a = a sort by a discrete number;  Att. 1b = a sort by the year the data was collected or recorded; Att.1c = the data is sorted alpha by family name; Att. 1d = sort by given name to acknowledge the many station workers with only a single name; Att.1e = is an alpha  sort by locality such a pastoral station or school hostel. 
SECTION FIVE     STATION CHILDREN AND SCHOOLING 
5.1 Introduction 
115.
The indigenous child population on pastoral stations was influenced by low birth rates, infant mortality, infectious disease, the forced removal of part-Aboriginal children, attendance at town schools and parents moving off the stations. Without statistical data and expert opinion, I cannot determine the impact of venereal disease reported in the Hamersley Range region early in the 20th century and there are no longitudinal records of infant mortality. The movement from stations to town schools is noticeable in the station records for years after 1954 where a child’s name may be included in the station census and  their absences in Roebourne or Onslow noted.   In 1922 a State wide survey of the indigenous population was conducted  by the police at the request of  Chief Protector A.O. Neville and a similar survey in 1947 was requested by the  Commissioner of Native Affairs, Mr. F.I. Bray.  The primary purpose of these surveys was to ascertain the approximate number of Aborigines in Western Australia
 and a secondary purpose was to identify the part-Aboriginal children for possible removal to a mission or to a government settlement. At various times, part-Aboriginal children were reported at Mulga Downs, Mount Florance and at Rocklea but not all were removed to institutions.
5.2
 Attending school  
116.
The archived records indicate that in the 1950s many station parents were keen for their children to attend school. The motivation is not clear and may be linked to the conditions of citizenship. The ability to manage one’s affairs, that is the ability to read, write and handle the weekly wages wisely, was one of the conditions of obtaining provisional citizenship through the Citizenship (Aborigines) Act of 1944 and its amendments.  When the father of the house gained citizenship it flowed on to his spouse and children and, of great importance, a citizenship certificate gave immediate exemption from the Aborigines legislation.  From the government’s position, under the prevailing policy of assimilation, a good education could lead to paid employment and accelerate social access into mainstream Australian society. 
117
During the 1946 Pilbara  strike, Tommy Sampey, a Bardi man from the north of Broome, conducted a day school on the 12 Mile reserve near Port Hedland but the lack of resources forced it to close after a few months.  Two years later, when Carnarvon parents threatened to boycott the government school if station children from the Church of Christ Mission were admitted, the Education Department built a second government school on a vacant block near the Mission. The two schools merged only when the town parents needed the mission numbers to upgrade ‘their’ primary school to a District High School. In 1952, the government mission school had 52 pupils who were accommodated at the Mission. District Officer Frank Gare reported that the mission school was creating great interest amongst station parents wanting their children educated and the head teacher could expect another 30 children from the Ashburton River region and ten more from the Gascoyne.
  Roebourne comes into the picture in 1953 when Schools Inspector Rourke was hailed by Tumbler, the recognized leader of the Roebourne reserve families: “He greeted me with, ‘Good day, Mr Inspector we want our children to go to school.’”
 
118.
A common misconception is that the Western Australia Education Act excluded Aboriginal children from government schools. The words Aboriginal or Native do not appear in any of the Education Acts since 1871which have in theory, though not always in practice, applied equally to Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal children. Regulation 85, intended to apply to health and hygiene matters, allowed that a head-teacher may exclude an Aboriginal child if white parents objected to his or her presence. However, in 1933, following a headlined case at Wagin, the then Premier, Phillip Collier, issued a directive that Aboriginal children could not be excluded from government schools without ministerial authority.
 In 1953 there were only eight government schools north of Carnarvon, most staffed by one or two teachers and, although   there was no legal barrier to the admission of station Aboriginal children classified as ‘full-bloods’, town attitudes kept them out of the classrooms. This was a time in Pilbara history when families were moving from the stations and onto the reserves at Roebourne and Onslow and the distance from the reserve to the school was not a deterrent. Town attitudes, however, was a problem and in Roebourne the children of the Hicks and several town Aboriginal families were tolerated in the school to make up the numbers and keep the school open.
 The reserve children were another matter and as far as the townsfolk were concerned, it was not negotiable. 
	School
	1937
	1949
	1977
	%1977

	Pt Hedland
	19
	Nil
	37
	25.3

	Onslow
	Nil
	Nil
	90
	80.3

	Roebourne
	13
	13
	127
	54.9

	Nullagine
	Nil
	Nil
	22
	66.6

	Marble Bar
	Not open
	Nil
	55
	56.7

	Yandeyarra
	Not open
	Not open
	62
	96.8


Table 1     Aboriginal children in State Schools 1937, 1949 and 1977.  
119.
The problem was finally resolved by assigning one room of the disused and condemned Roebourne Court House  to the Native class and, because no one in  town would billet a teacher appointed to that class,
 Mrs Quealy, the non-teacher wife of the Headmaster, Bruce Quealy, opened the ‘Native class’ on 27 September 1954 with 18 children from the reserve and this segregation continued until 1961 when a new school was constructed and the children were integrated.  Many pupils in Mrs Quealy’s courthouse classroom became prominent men and women in Pilbara matters. These include the late David Daniels and the Churnside children. 
120.
The school hostels system was developed in the 1960s to provide accommodation, protection and a regular diet for station children attending town schools. Those serving the Ashburton and Pilbara were Moorgunya Hostel at Port Hedland, Gilliamia at Onslow, Oolnayah at Marble Bar,
 Riverdale at Nullagine and Weeriana at Roebourne, which was a sixty-bed  hostel.  The hostel fees were deducted from the fathers’ wages by the station manager, and some mothers, to avoid these deductions, chose to live on the Roebourne reserve and care for the school-age children who attended as day pupils. If a pensioner relative was already on the reserve, the mother and children joined them.  

121.
The tables  at Att. 1e, p.16, identifies  17 children at Weerianna Hostel. This same table (Att.1e, p.16) shows that the parents of Nos. 219-225 are living on the Roebourne reserve.  In 1957 a  mother, No.382, and at least three of her children were living on Roebourne reserve and listed in the 1957 Mulga Downs census indicating that her stay in Roebourne was not intended to be permanent (Att. 1a, p.13).  Children from stations closer to Onslow attended that primary school and stayed at Gilliamia school hostel. 
 Gilliamia, Weeriana and Moorgunya Hostel at Port Hedland, are mentioned by several storytellers in Karijini Mirlimirli. 
5.3 The removal of children 

122.
I enter this section of the report with some reservations because the removals usually followed a census conducted by local police at the request of the Chief Protector and while the initial lists survive in the police and Aborigines Department files, the actual removal instructions were sometimes placed in the personal files that I do not access. The available names may be seen on  Attachment 1a, b, c, d, e. The Aborigines Act 1905 made the Chief Protector the guardian of all Aboriginal children classed as half-castes that is having one parent who is not ‘full-blood’ and all other classed as ‘full-blood’. The Act empowered him to authorise the removal of children under certain conditions and an amendment in 1911 placed his authority above that of an Aboriginal parent. The amended Act, the Native Administration Act of 1936, increased the powers of the Protector, now Commissioner of Native Affair, to include all children classified under the Act as ‘quarter-caste’ otherwise known as quadroons.   
123.
Following the 1922 Statewide census to identify and locate part-Aboriginals Constable Morrow collected the names of the part Aboriginal children and adults within his Tablelands district
 (Att.1b, pp.1-2).  The names and estimated ages of those he recorded are given below.  Morrow was also  at Mulga Downs station in April 1923 and recorded the names of 14 persons aged between a few months to two men aged 45...
 Names were also recorded at Mulga Downs, Rocklea, Mount Florance, and Tambrey stations. Constable Walter L. Simmons added a note to Morrow’s report that during his own visit to Mulga Downs on 18 June 1925, he counted six part-Aboriginal children in the station camp. Unlike Morrow, he provided  no names.
 
124.
Tambrey station: Jilby (33).

Mount Florance station: Jacky (20), Madji.3 @ Sandi male (14).
Hamersley station: Taban, male (12), Maggie female (16), Ingla female (20), Pidgy female (20), Frank male (35).

Rocklea station: one male child yet unnamed.

Mulga Downs station: Jack Murray male (45),Jack Hicks male (45), Charlotte Hicks (40) wife of Jack, Sam male (35), William male (23), Mitchell male (15), Porky female (19), Ivy female (17), Carrie female(17), Mubie male (4) and Alice female (8mths) Porky’s children; Humpy (few weeks old) Carrie’s child.  

125.
On 11 May 1940, Dr Davis reported to Commissioner Bray that during his medical examination of the Aboriginal people at Rocklea he saw Nyimo aged 5-6 the son of Werribee,  Annie and  Dinah, the children of Werribee;  Forrest 5 years the son of Annie; Alice 12 whose mother was dead and Dora the daughter of Dinah (Att.1b, p.3). No further information was seen. 
  

126.
Native Affairs Inspector O’Neill was in the Pilbara monitoring the 1946 strike and during his tour of Pilbara pastoral stations,
 he ‘picked up’ a number of part Aboriginal children for transfer to a southern institution, possibly the Moore River Native Settlement, close to the rail siding named Mogumber (Att. 1b, p. 3-4). At Mount Florance he ‘picked up’ Amy, the daughter of Carrie (Connie?) and Fred aged 11 years. (Att. 1b, p. 3-4)O’Neill wrote to Commissioner Bray, “Great difficulty was encountered in removing these children and it was only through Sgt McGeary that it was possible and even then the mother had to be taken also to accompany them to Roebourne.”
 
127.
He continued on to Coolawanyah where he took Jackson and Redford(?) the  children of Fegi (??)and again, he had great difficulty separating the children from their mother and without McGeary’s assistance his mission would have failed. At Mulga Downs, he collected Egypt’s two children, an unnamed girl and a boy Rommel.
 On the return to Roebourne via Millstream, he took  Molly’s daughter, Pansy.   I have no further information about the children removed by O’Neill or those recorded by Morrow in 1923 and by Dr Davis in 1946. 
5.4. Conclusion
128.
In this section of the report I show that the desire of  parents to  have their children educated must be considered in the bundle of reasons why Indigenous people were moving off the stations in the 1950s and beyond.  It is my opinion that teachers of that era, and I was one – who came from the south, were   committed to the twin ideals of  equal access and equal opportunity for indigenous Australians were successful with many pupils from remote stations and missions. It can be seen in the pages of Karijini Mirlimirli  that numbers of young people who were at school at Roebourne and Onslow and are now entering middle-age, exercised that choice that an education made possible and took a different road and experienced a lifestyle quite different to that of their parents and grandparents, and yet they retain the sentiments of country and culture.  The reports of children identified for possible or actual removal from their families are inconclusive and I have no further information beyond the reports. All these children are likely to have a personal file that an authorised person may access.  It is quite clear from O’Neill’s letters to the Commissioner that the parents did not yield their children without a struggle. Constable E. Morrow, in his autobiography published in 1937, describes a similar situation, perhaps a consequence of his 1923 report, when he was ordered to remove two children from their mother and send them to Moore River Native Settlement where one of the boys died, “Less than twelve months later little Nallyno was dead. I cannot forget the pathetically puzzled eyes that gazed at me when I broke the news. Pneumonia, the Department said. Perhaps …! The natives – and I – knew better…  “He belong ‘em this country. He can’t go away.” 
 
SECTION SIX      MOVING OFF THE STATIONS
6.1 Introduction

129.
It was shown in Section 5.1 and 5.2 that education was one reason why mothers moved onto town reserves and in this section I look at work related factors. The drift away from the pastoral station and towards regional towns is sometimes attributed to the pastoral award and being ‘pushed off’ by pastoralists unwilling to pay the award rate. Looking at a broader view of the Pilbara  it can be seen that the drift was evident at least ten years before the 1968 Pastoral Award when, in order to secure and retain staff for essential tasks, pastoralists must pay at least part of the wages in cash and town was where it was spent. Push and pull elements contribute to any movement of sections of any population be it drought and famine pushing people in from the desert to seek refuge at missions and fringe stations, or the pull of town attractions; shopping, movies, alcohol, family. It is my view that the pull factors outweighed  the push elements and the sense of independence was channelled into contract work on several stations rather than a commitment to full time employment on the one station. The sense of liberation and the newfound independence of the 1946  Pilbara strikers is well described by Clancy McKenna in Somewhere between Black and White.
 
6.2 Pastoral stations

130.
The Charles Straker reports of 1892-93 reveal that the majority of Aboriginal people on the stations that he visited were either there when the station was established or were the descendants of those families. During the first part of the twentieth century the indigenous station workers came to identify with the one station and these may well be the descendants of those people seen by Straker and Olivey. The prolonged drought that drained the resources of the Pilbara, Ashburton and Gascoyne regions in the ten years, 1934 to about 1945,  would have weakened and the traditional attachment of workers to a particular station. The drought caused a reduction in flock numbers and during the worst years of the Great Depression the market sale price for the fewer bales of wool produced could not balance the losses. 
131.
In the years immediately following the Second World War (1939-1945) the sale price of wool soared to ‘a pound for a pound’. This is also a period of mechanisation where horses gave way to motor cycles, stations changed stocking from the labour intensive sheep farming to beef cattle that required fewer workers.  This was the situation at Rocklea
 in the 1950s when dingos took the profit out of running sheep and the owners sold the flocks and converted to cattle and then had little need for Aboriginal labour leaving specialist work, such as fencing, to mobile contractors.  The mechanisation of stations in these post-war years required employees to possess at least basic levels of literacy and numeracy to be able to read instructions and maintain records.  I again refer to the older voices of Karijini Mirlimirli who admit that they, in common with many of their generation, had no formal schooling. 

132.
 Goods in lieu of wages were part of the history of the Western Australian pastoral industry and one incident in 1916 may demonstrate the fickle nature  of station employment. The station flocks were shorn by travelling teams of contractors and in 1916 rival teams were on Hamersley and Mulga Downs. The white shearers on Hamersley threatened to strike if all Aborigines working in and around the wool sheds were not paid up union members receiving an award wage. The shearers on Mulga Downs opposed the strike because it made Aborigines equal under union rules.
 An alternative was that the stations pay Aboriginal shearers the award rate but this would threaten the established rations, tobacco and clothing regime and could see wage demands spread across the region.
  As matters stood, some stations saved on rations by sending their workers into the bush for up to five months after the shearing was finished and the wool was on its way to the markets.
  
133.
The Aboriginal workers on stations during post World War  wool boom expected a fair wage and the Pilbara pastoral workers’ strike of 1946 was in some respects an unexpected revolution but a revolution is usually an extreme action to redress a wrong and achieve change and success relies upon unity and leadership and this strike was well planned and skilfully implemented.  What I attempt to do in this section of my report is to demonstrate that Don McLeod, who planned the strike, emphasised wages without regard to the background to the wage issue.  
6.3   The 1946 Pilbara strike

134.
The Pilbara strike that began in 1946 has taken on a legendary status and this brief review of that event is intended to place it in a broader context. In 1946, the Pilbara and Gascoyne had experienced a devastating drought that impoverished many stations and resulted in stock numbers falling well  below an economical regeneration level. One account claimed that during this time 130 out of every 200 sheep across 14 Gascoyne stations died and such stock losses caused station owners to walk off their properties and Aboriginal workers and their families were displaced or neglected.
  Hardie
  refers to this drought and the impact it had on stocking and the pastoral economy. McDonald in her history of the Ashburton tells us that Red Hill station carried 18,000 sheep before the drought and by September 1949, the number was reduced to 8,000.
  The Land Act Amendment Act 1936, introduced provision for the remission of rent for periods during a severe drought and the files for this subsidy record the decline of the North West sheep industry.
135.
We think of a drought as affecting crops and sheep but drought devastated the entire food chain. In pre-pastoral times Aborigines and the game they hunted followed the permanent waterholes but these were now enclosed and wild-life suffered along with the pastoralists’ sheep. Rifles in some measure lessened the Aboriginal hardship and, despite it being contrary to the 1905 Aborigines Act, station owners permitted their employees to take firearms and ammunition when travelling during the holiday season.  In 1913 Constable Norman found an impoverished family camped at Eastern Creek. There had been no rain for two years and nothing for them to hunt and no station would or could employ them.
 Advance this situation twenty-seven years to 1940 when the region had experienced five years of drought. Constable Plunkett with tracker Bobbie responded to a complaint that Aborigines on the Tableland were in possession of rifles and refused to return to their stations.
 It would seem to me that, with rifles and a good supply of ammunition  a family was independent of the station and without them, they must return to the  station and make do with a ration  of damper and meat. Mr Gordon of Millstream station accompanied the constable to Yearling Pool, about four miles from the Middle Creek Reserve Camp, and confiscated thirty-two rifles.
  Plunket left the guns with the Mount Florance manager, Mr Andrews, who said that his Aborigines were camped about 40 kilometres to the south of the station and did not cause him any trouble.  The prolonged drought was a matter of concern for Commissioner of Native Affairs Francis Bray when he received a report from Aborigines Inspector McBeath in October 1940:

136.
 “This locality has experienced drought seasons for several years, and on most of the sheep stations the flocks have been reduced to about 1/3 of the usual numbers, generally speaking these properties are in a bad way, and several more bad years will practically wipe these places out of existence, as they cannot carry on much longer under the present drought conditions.  The bad state of the pastoral industry has had everything to do with the creation of our native problem at this centre, but it has been further aggravated by other happenings.”

137.
The ‘other happenings’ was the rationing of fifty-two adults and twenty-three children at Tableland depot. The rations were either inadequate or poorly distributed because the police loaned their rifles to the Aborigines to hunt kangaroos to supplement the diet and the constables kept the hides for sale and encouraged the  Aborigines to prospect for asbestos. 

138.
It was mid-1945 when Constable L.C. Fletcher alerted Bray to the impending closure of six pastoral stations in the Pilbara and the likely consequences for station dependants. He urged Bray to be prepared to ration or repatriate the forty-four Aborigines who would be displaced by these closures and suggested that the camp at Port Hedland government reserve known as the ‘Twelve-mile’ offered ample water and firewood, trees for shelter and kangaroos for subsistence. Bray communicated this information to Mr O’Neill, his Inspector for the Pilbara, 

139.  “During your absence Messrs Dalgety & Co intermitted that the company would not go on financing certain stations in the Port Hedland district, and this means that there is every possibility that 6 or 7 of the stations will be abandoned.  This means the disturbance of native employment, and I had it in view that the natives thrown out of employment might be held temporary on rations on Marble Bar.”

140.
Bray reasoned that at Marble Bar would keep them in a rural area and easier to return to the stations when the drought broke, “I have no wish to arrange for any removals from the district for as you can see children are involved, and such action would merely tend to reduce future labour potential.”
 Constable Fletcher’s concern was for the elderly, who having given their working lives to the stations were now most vulnerable and he claimed that there were instances of Aborigines being hunted off the stations, but he gave few details. 

141.
Poor working conditions, a poor wage, and on some stations no wage at all, would have contributed to worker discontent and created a receptive climate for a strike. Two of the leaders of the Pilbara strikes were Clancy McKenna and Dooley Bin Bin. McKenna’s role has been described in his autobiography, Somewhere between Black and White,
 and that of Dooley is written up by Don McLeod in How the West was Lost.
 McLeod, Dooley and Clancy agreed that the strike would begin on 1 May 1946.  

142.
I searched the writings of those who have traced the course and consequences of the strike including: Hess,
 Biskup,
 Bolton,
 Brown,
 McLeod
, Palmer and McKenna,
 Wilson
 and a recent history prepared for the National Native Title Tribunal
 and  found nothing to indicate that the Pilbara strike had a significant impact on the stations within the Punjima Trial Area. Furthermore, during this era, when it was not merely the strike that was a concern but the perceived Communist support that made it necessary to monitor the strike and report on its spread. Inspector O’Neill did visit the Tableland stations
 and,  had Mulga Downs and Hamersley been a party to the strike,  there would certainly be a file note and there is none.

143.
There was no set wage for Aboriginal workers in 1946 and in former years the Australian Workers Union had not given its support to a fair wage for all Aborigines; a carry-over from the union insistence on white labour before black, but times and attitudes were changing.  Some pastoralists paid their workers and others made it a ledger entry against food and clothing. I found no records of wages paid to Pilbara and Ashburton station workers before 1940. 
144.
In July 1946, two months after the strike was declared, Native Affairs Inspector L. G. O’Neill was given the role of mediator. He visited the strike camps between Pt Hedland and Marble Bar and found the general demand was for a signed agreement to pay a flat rate of £2 a week and keep. 
  The strike, in some respects, continued for two years but I have found no record that O’Neill actually discussed the strike with station workers at Mulga Down, Hamersley, Juna, Marillana or Rocklea stations that again informs me that the workers on these stations did not participate in the strike. 
145.
Beyond 1948, changes continue on the stations and sudden change, resulting from a change of ownership, could be quite dramatic. District Officer John Beharrell observed the impact of such change in the Kimberley and the lack of care shown by a new manager for the welfare of men and women who had given thirty years and more of loyal service to the station owners and had little to show for it
 and although the change of ownership and management also occurred in the Pilbara, I have not found any similar official reporting of the consequences.

6.4   Pastoral Workers’ Award 
146. With the attention given to award wages for men in the pastoral industry, we tend to overlook the women. Native Welfare Circular No A2106 of 3 July 1963 is headed ‘Natives employed as domestics’, and acknowledges that the Domestics Award No. 6 of 1958 was under review and one clause of concern was one that which allowed employers to pay Aboriginal domestics at a rate below the award. The circular made it clear that the review under way would insist that all Aboriginal domestics be paid at the award rate.
 The review was in line with Commissioner Middleton’s determination to purge legislation and regulations of anything that discriminated against Aborigines. The proposal, if it was adopted, came too late for the thousand of Aboriginal women who, over the years were  employed as station domestics well below an award rate. 
147.
The implementation of the Pastoral Industry Award 1965 is considered by some people, to have forced Aboriginal people off Western Australian stations. This was certainly the case in the West Kimberley where the Emanuel Brothers, who controlled a number of pastoral stations in the Fitzroy Crossing district, pushed several hundreds off their stations to prove a point that the government and not the stations must now accept responsibility for the pensioners and the unemployed. It does not follow that the experiences in one district can be extrapolated to all pastoral districts without explanation or evidence. Noel Olive promotes the eviction view in the introduction to Karijini Mirlimirli.
 
148.
To set the award in a Pilbara context I provide a brief background to the North-West employment situation, outline the concerns of the Native Welfare Department and then summarise the wages paid at several Pilbara stations spanning 1968 the year that the award was implemented in Western Australia, and consider whether this view should be accepted or that it may be only one of a bundle of reasons why people left the Pilbara stations in the 1950s and 1960s. In his annual report for the year ending 30 June 1957, Commissioner Middleton observed that the living conditions and wage paid on pastoral stations were dictated by supply and demand:

149.
 “In areas where there is a good balance between work available and native population, the native workers receive better conditions. The reverse obtains where the native population greatly exceeds the jobs available, excepting where an alternative form of obtaining subsistence is available to the natives, such as in the North-West where some natives for many years have been able to fall back on mining, particularly tin-mining, as an alternative means of obtaining subsistence.
 
150.
Frank Stevens traced the history of the award from 1924 to 1967 and claims that the Australian Workers Union, which backed the push for the inclusion of Aboriginal workers, accepted the pastoralists warnings of widespread hardship for their employees but stated that it was best for all concerned, pastoralists and their Aboriginal workers to be thrown into the water, “and let them learn to swim”. 
 In September 1967, the Commonwealth Conciliation and Arbitration Commission handed down a varying order to the Pastoral Industry Award 1965 which allowed for a phasing in period for the payment of an award rate to be operative in Western Australia on 1 December 1968. An overlooked feature of the award was that it formally applied to members of the Australian Workers Union (AWU) and the Union was not particularly active in recruiting members in the Pilbara or even in the Kimberley.  
151.
The  estimated Aboriginal population of the combined Roebourne, Port Hedland and Marble Bar districts in 1968 was 2,208 with 904 in employment and 693 children receiving an education; 172 being boarders at Roebourne, Onslow and Marble Bar school hostels
 (Pt Hedland hostel was opened later). Stanley Middleton, the Commissioner of Native Welfare, observed in his annual report for year ending 30 June 1968, the year before the award came into effect,  that employment in the pastoral industry accounted for 38 per cent of all Aborigines employed in Western Australia but the seasonal  nature of that  industry was forcing people to seek alternative award rate employment off the stations
 and the rapid expansion of mineral exploration in the Pilbara flowing onto town growth was already providing that alternative with 165 Aborigines in full time employment in Port Hedland.
  
152.
Two years after the implementation of the Pastoral Award in Western Australia, Middleton expressed concern at the number of families moving away from the stations and onto town reserves: 
153.
“Whereas before the introduction of Award rates of pay it was customary for the whole family to regard the employing station as its home, it is now becoming an increasingly normal practice for the wife and children to move to the nearest township and for the husband to proceed from there to work on stations, very often on a contract basis.”
 

154.
The matter of pensions for those displaced or moving off stations also warrants comment. The Commonwealth government was historically negligent when it considered pensions and child endowment for those classified as “under the Act’. The child endowment, introduced in 1941, was only paid to mothers who could demonstrate that they were not dependants of institutions such as missions and pastoral stations and that they were not nomadic in their habits. Smith and Smith of Rocklea station asked the Commissioner of Native Affairs about the eligibility of station parents, “I have been told it does not apply to Natives outback. If this is so it seems most unjust to us, we would think that Natives outback have more right...,”
 Acting Commissioner McBeath replied on 8 August 1947:

155.
 “Any Native parents, providing they are supporting more than one child under the age of 16 years of age, are entitled to apply for Child Endowment and due consideration to the application will be given by the Child Endowment Office. Claim forms could be procured from the nearest Post Office. Nomadic Natives are excluded from the privileges of Child Endowment. The living conditions, habits, and customs of an applicant native are contingent upon the grant of Endowment but Native parents living under better conditions and who are not in the habit of ‘going walkabout’ in nomadic fashion and can be classed as detribalised natives – can make application for Child Endowment if they so desire.”

156.
Similar conditions applied to the aged pension that was withheld until 1959 and then the station manager was authorised to manage the pensions of station dependants. District Officer, A.O. Day for the North-West (Gascoyne, Ashburton and Pilbara) noted in the first year a change in the demeanour of those drawing the pension, “the pension has not only assisted them in regard to a better standard of physical living, but it has also in a social sense ‘put them on the map’”.
 Within Day’s district, there were 94 age pensioners, 31 invalid pensioners, three on the widow’s pension and 5 drawing a wife’s allowance. In addition, about 310 families were receiving the Child Endowment. 
 Pensioners moving away from the stations and onto town reserves took their rights with them and drew the pension in cash at the local Post Office as did other pensioners of that era.  

157.
The workers made redundant by the pastoral industry’s response to the Award rate exposed another Social Welfare anomaly; that those made redundant must leave the stations in order to be eligible for unemployment benefit. This was a general policy that the unemployed, Aboriginal or non-Aboriginal must seek work where it was available and if paid work was not to be found on the stations then they must seek it elsewhere.  Commissioner Middleton criticised this policy: “One factor which contributed towards the original movement of families into townships was the initial insistence by the Commonwealth that unemployment benefit, could not be paid on either pastoral properties or mission stations.” 
 
158.
The station management, populations and employment opportunities in the Kimberley are vastly different to those in the Pilbara and  it is my opinion that the dislocation that  Middleton attributes to the introduction of  an award wage was, at least in the Pilbara, already in process before 1968 with men seeking out the stations that offered them the  best wages and also the best  accommodation for their families. The days of the station humpies without showers and toilets located alongside a creek and well beyond the homestead were gone forever and, in a highly competitive market, those stations that failed to offer a fair wage and upgrade and maintain staff accommodation had little chance of attracting even seasonal workers. In 1971 the men were employed on a weekly wage, the head stockman on $24 and keep and all others on $16 and keep, which used in various ways, meat, potatoes, onions, flour, rice, dried milk, fruit and peas, jam, tea, sugar and sauce. Keep did not include semi-luxuries such as fruit, soap, laundry soap and tobacco. (For wage examples see Att. 1e, pp. 6-9). 
6.5 Contract workers

160.
As noted previously, the abolition in 1954 of the employment permits in force since 1905, gave station employees the right and the opportunity to seek out those managers who were prepared to pay a good wage for experienced and reliable staff. This was also saw  the beginning of  Aboriginal contract teams putting to good use their sound reputations in the industry to contract fencing and installations previous undertaken by the permanent staff. Herbert Parker, when temporary manager of Marillana, made it a family business and the contract team at that station  in 1957 included Wobbi and Trevor Parker, Bob Poonda, Edward Carbine and Sam Corine (Att.1e, p.6).
  In 1962, Gordon and Harold [no family names given] were contracting fencing at Mulga Downs, as was J. Smith in 1966 (Att. 1e, p.11).
 Geoffrey Long, who was employed at Mulga Downs as a general hand in 1965 was there in 1967 as a fencing contractor.
 Milton Lockyer was contracting at Hamersley in 1966 and Peter Stevens in 1970(Att. 1e, pp. 3-4).
 These examples demonstrate a trend  in the pastoral industry away from retaining permanent staff  and to the  employment of casual and contract workers.
6.6  Coolawanyah and Hooley Stations wages comparisons
161. It is difficult in this area of research to find a flow of Native Welfare records to provide a statistical determination of the impact of the Award wage on employment. I chose Hooley and Coolawanyah as regional example and because Hooley was originally a part of Coolawanyah station and on the inspection reports for the years 1963-67 the owner is given as the Coolawanyah Pastoral Co. 

162.
Coolawanyah station was inspected by Native Welfare Field Officers in 1961-63, 1965-67 and 1970-71.
  There were no Aboriginal workers on the station in 1963 and the same may have applied in 1961, 1964, 1968 and 1969, years for which there is no report on file. Four men were employed in July 1963
 and six in 1967
 and only three in 1971.
  The employees were usually paid a wage plus keep that was accommodation and a main meal daily.  In 1963, the highest paid worker received £8 per week and keep and seven years later the top wage was $30 per week and keep. The method of wage payment in 1964 was $100 a month that represented $5 a week less than the year before.
 In 1970, the solitary worker received his gross wage as cash in hand and bought the food for the family.  

163.
Hooley was a small station and the owners were struggling to survive and did not employ many workers, Aboriginal or European or bear the cost of upgrading the accommodation to the standard expected. For example, Hooley in 1963 employed a family of one male and two females and he was paid the equivalent of $14 a week and keep and he and his family lived under primitive conditions without a toilet or shower.  The meals of ‘good plain tucker’ were cooked at the homestead and workers and the boss ate the same for but not at the same table. At the time of the inspections in 1965, 1966 and 1967 no Aborigines were on the station. The figures for 1968 and 1969 were not recorded and in 1970. In 1971, with a new manager and the station running a few sheep and cattle employed three people including two who were employed in 1963.  Not one pensioner was recorded on the station over the years of the inspections. 

164.
By 1963 these two stations managed with fewer paid workers and the pensioners appear to have moved away from the stations and possibly onto Roebourne or Onslow reserve.  It is accepted that these two stations represent only a sampling of Pilbara stations but the continuity of station employment does not exist, good workers are hard to come by and those who are employed do not seem to regard it as a job for life. The pensioners have gone. The children are way at school. There are alternatives to station work and  permanent employments could not  offer  the attractions and entertainment to be found in the coastal towns. It is accepted, however, that it is very likely that those who moved to the towns retained some physical, emotional and spiritual links to the stations where they grew up. 
6.7 Conclusion and  Attachment  1 explained
165.
In writing this conclusion I considered it would also serve to explain in some detail Attachment 1 (a,b,c,d,e) to this report which follows the events described in sections of this report. Attachment 1 is a listing of more than 400 names, many repeated, of men, women and children associated with the stations within the Bunjima Trial Area or the adjacent pastoral stations.  I have sorted these lists five ways: 1a = numerical order, 1b = the year the record was created, 1c = by family name, 1d = given name considering the fact that prior to c1950 Aboriginal people on pastoral stations and mission usually had one name only and sometime and alias;  and 1e = station or location.  The sort by year commences at 1881 with a man from Hamersley Range, (Att. 1a, 391) the first of eight men arrested in the region and sentenced to a term of imprisonment at the Rottnest Island Aboriginal Prison (Att. 1a, Nos 390-393 and 395). There is also an entry for Hamersley Towser whose name suggests to me that he was a man from the Hamersley Range living or working in the Peak Hill police district. Rottnest Island Aboriginal Prison closed in 1902 and a section of the island was set aside as an annex of Fremantle Prison until about 1931. White prisoners on good behaviour and usually remote area Aboriginal prisoners were stationed on Rottnest Island to construct roads and pathways, collecting wood for the tourists and maintaining the buildings. When Roebourne Gaol opened it received all but the most serious offenders and the entries for 1916 (Att. 1a, Nos 397-400) are Mount Florance men on short-term sentences. These were the only admissions I found in a search to that date. There are several names in the Roebourne Gaol not entered - men who may be alive today.   
166.
The two ladies Mundara @ Susannah and Mullaring @ Mary (Att. 1a,  Nos. 401 & 402) recorded by George Olivey at Mount Florance in 1901, have an estimated birth year of 1831, and if this is  correct, they were born two years after Captain Charles Fremantle took possession of the western third of the continent and 43 years old when the first pastoral leases were taken up in the Pilbara. Charles Straker, in his 1892 report stated that those on Mount Florance station were there when the station was established.
167.
The entries for 1922 (Att. 1a, 325-388) and 1947 (Att. 1a, 300-324) represents the follow up to a State-wide census that  Chief Protector of Aborigines in 1922 and his successor, Commissioner Francis Bray in 1947, used to identify children for possible removal to a mission or government institution. It should be noted that these patrols in 1922 and 1947 was a name, age and caste collecting exercise and the CPA would, when he had collated the data, nominate the children to be removed. It is also is important to realise that the removal of children was a selective process and not every child on a pastoral station was at risk and even the intention to remove part-Aboriginal children may be thwarted by family and by the police or dictated by local conditions such as distance from the port of departure or, a 13 year old girls may be married and no longer considered ‘suitable’ for removal. Babes were rarely removed because a male constable had no way of caring for a baby or even an infant who was usually breast-fed for two or more years. I do not know the actual number of children removed from the area of study to a mission or to a southern institution. This list has only extracted the information for two stations in 1922, Mt Florance, and Mulga Downs, and Rocklea in 1947. It would be a time consuming task to search cards of ‘destroyed’ or amalgamated files to determine whether these were the only stations with significant numbers of part-Aborigines.  It is, however, most likely that all the children who were identified as part Aboriginal on stations or in towns would have had a file card created and held in the CPA’S Perth office. 
168.
The 1924 entries warrant comment. Pastoral workers absconding under the Masters and Servants Act (1842-1886) may be arrested and gaoled or returned to the master. Similar conditions applied to those employed under witnessed agreements (1887-1905). The 1905 Act was lacking a punitive clause but a ‘gentleman’s agreement’ between station owners not to poach his neighbour’s workers usual tied a family to the one station. The case of entries,  Att. 1a, 423-425, was that they walked off Hamersley station in protest against the manager’s behaviour. The same year, several elderly people went on a ‘holiday’ from Rocklea and the manager at Kooline would be pleased to see them returned to Rocklea; they did not originate on his station so he did not feel responsible for rationing them. 

169.
A report for 1939 is at a time when whooping cough and colds are reported at Mount Florance and Mulga Downs stations. I have seen no record of deaths resulting for this epidemic and no reports from other stations to suggest it was a widespread epidemic. 
170.
In the 1950 we are entering the era of a cash wage and keep and a factor influencing this was the abolition of the permit system in 1954 and by 1957 Aboriginal fencing contractors are working the Pilbara stations, frequently returning to those stations where their reputations were solid (Att. 1a, 372) and in 1957 sixteen of the Aborigines counted on Marillana were contractors or their family members.

171.
In my opinion education was one of the factors contributing to the drift away from Pilbara pastoral stations. The listing for the Roebourne Weerianna school hostel is best seen at Att.1e page 16, 382-384, identifies a mother, Blanche Tucker,
 and her children on Roebourne reserve. It was not uncommon for station children to live on the reserve with a family member and attend school as a day pupil.
172.
The lists can be read in other ways. Attachment 1e sorts by locality and  draws together all the names associated with a particular station and the sort by family name Attachment 1c will show the mobility of some families and the long attachment to a particular station of others.   
SECTION SEVEN       EUROPEAN IMPACT:  DISEASE (9f)
 7.1 Introduction

173. It is only possible to assess the impact of  introduced disease on an indigenous population if the population can be measured. before and after the epidemic.  There are no such estimates for the Pilbara where the first station by station count was that by Charles Straker in 1892, twenty-six years after the small-pox epidemic of 1864.  Between these years a measles epidemic on De Grey Station may also have had an impact on other regions of the Pilbara. 
7.2 Introduced Disease

174.
The earliest published reports of introduced  disease in the Pilbara, is to be found in Edward Curr’s Australian Race, published in 1886.
  A.R. Richardson referred to an outbreak of small pox in 1864 “At that time the tribe numbered from two hundred and fifty to three hundred persons, but a decrease has since taken place as the consequences of small-pox which committed considerable ravages amongst them in 1866.”
 The tribe he refers to is that named the Gnalouma by Withnell and Ngaluma by Tindale. The long term effects of the pearling industry and introduced diseases diminished this ‘tribe’ almost to extinction. “Charles Harper, pastoralist and later co-owner of The West Australian newspaper, was in the Pilbara in 1865-6 when the small-pox swept through the Aboriginal community and claimed “large numbers died of it.”  Curr continued, “Many of the Blacks who died were left unburied, and Mr Harper saw camps long afterwards in which their bones lay bleaching on the ground.”
 Another report of smallpox comes from the pioneering Withnell family:
175.
“the Aboriginal population succumbed by the hundred, an average of six per day for weeks being buried in the vicinity of the settlement, while for months afterwards bodies of natives were to be seen along the river banks.  Mrs Withnell with the aid of her medicine chest saved a few of these unfortunates.”
 

176.
Smallpox was again reported in 1870, particularly around the Maitland River area and a report in the Colonial Secretary Records attributes the spread of the infection to the Aborigines employed in the pearling industry relaying the disease when they returned to their home communities.
  

177.
Charles Straker, the Inspector of Aborigines appointed by the Aborigines Protection Board, visited most of the Pilbara pastoral station in 1892 and made some notes on disease and mortality. . Most of the deaths that he recorded were due to old age. Referring to the 1883 measles epidemic, he noted that the greatest recorded loss was at De Grey station where 78 Aborigines died but placed into context- this vast station had a resident Aboriginal population of about 300. 
  On the Table below, I have placed several stations within or closely associated with the Bunjima Trial Area and when looking at the total measles counted for the region that it did not reach inland to these particular stations. 
	Station
	Measles
	  Influenza
	   Other
	    Chn

	Cooya Pooya
	-
	
	
	7

	Middle Creek
	-
	1
	1
	2

	Mt Florance
	-
	1
	1
	3

	Mulga Downs
	-
	
	
	

	Yarraloola
	-
	
	
	3

	Totals
	      97*
	2
	2
	15


              TABLE  2   Deaths  at Tableland stations 1882-1892


Charles Straker’s reports. * stations other than above. Chn= number of children dead
178.
In 1909, Constable Street reported influenza and measles was “very bad” on all stations along his patrol route but made no direct reference to those stations associated with the Bunjima Trial Area.
  Another epidemic of measles and influenza was reported at Marble Bar in 1909 resulting in three deaths and in July 1909, Mr Weaver at Warrawagine station reported five deaths from measles.
 Constable Napier, in charge of Tableland ration station in 1911, reported that he and Assistant Charlie were both sick with influenza and half the indigent Aborigines at Tableland reserve were also affected.
 At Mt Florance station in 1936, the manager reported “that the natives on his station were suffering from severe attacks of influenza, two of them an invalid and an old native had died and three more were very ill”.  The constable got supplies of medicine from Middle Creek for Mt Florance “then attended to the sick natives”
Dr Albert Davies reported on 23 September 1939, “an epidemic of whooping cough at Roebourne amongst both black and white children and some black adults were also affected by bronchial pneumonia complications.” 
 but he makes no reference to the Hamersley Range or the stations of interest to this report.

179.
Venereal disease appears to have been more serious in the Pilbara than elsewhere in Western Australia and may have been aggravated by the inland prospectors and some of the most serious cases were reported in the vicinity of the Hamersley Range.
 In 1905, the Resident Magistrate of Marble Bar reported an alarming spread of this disease: 

180.
“In compliance with instructions to report on the conditions of Aborigines in this District I beg to report that during this year I have become aware of the prevalence of venereal disease among the natives and that it is spreading to an alarming extent.  The R.M. refers to the instructions issued in May 1898 by the then Premier Sir John Forest.  The details of these instructions are not in this report.”

181.
The Western Australian government responded in 1908 by establishing lock hospitals on Bernier Island (for men) and Dorre Island (for women) that were a short distance from Carnarvon. A medical officer accompanied by police patrols inspected all the residents on pastoral stations and identified those to be removed to the lock hospitals. Constable Gray while at Mulga Downs station wrote: 

182.
“examined a number of native women who were camped at Coondina Station, then crossed to Bamboo Springs where they are now.  I consider they are fit subjects for admission to Bernier Island.  Mrs Beard promised to look after them until arrangements can be made to shift them.  Inspected the Natives working on the stations in this sub district and found everything highly satisfactory”.

183.
The word of the medical patrols spread and the constable and doctor may arrive at a station to discover that the elderly people who they wanted to see had been warned of their approach and had ‘gone bush’. Constable Thompson described the situation: “It is almost impossible to find out if any are suffering from disease.  As a rule these natives will not leave their own country to come in for medical treatment”.

184.
In September 1909, there were 20 people at Onslow awaiting shipment to Carnarvon. The coastal steamers with passengers refused to take diseased Aborigines and the government was forced to charter a craft with the oddly inappropriate name of Venus for this task.  The patients assigned to the Lock Islands were issued with trousers and blankets. On the 4 February 14 men and 19 women, patients from north west points were landed at Bernier Island.
 I have not been able to establish if any of these people were from the Bunjima  Trial Area.  
185.
Travelling Inspector Olivey conducted a survey of Pilbara stations in 1901 and in 1916 he returned with a police patrol, given the task ‘round up’ Aborigines with venereal disease. With regard for the welfare of the Aboriginal patients, the Chief Protector, Mr A.O. Neville cautioned Olivey: 

186. “More particularly do I wish to impress upon you the necessity for every care and consideration being given to those unfortunates collected during your expedition. Every endeavour must be made by you to persuade your patients to voluntarily accompany you to the ports from where they will be sent to the lock hospitals and force must only be used when all other methods of inducing them to submit themselves to medical treatment fail.”

187.
Dorre and Bernier Island hospitals closed in 1919 and up to that year an estimated 800 men and women had been treated.
  Now a new lock hospital for lepers was established off the Pilbara coast on Bezout Island, described by Dr Maloney, the Roebourne District Medical Officer as six miles from Port Samson and lacking adequate drinking water. 
 The Bezout Island leprosarium closed in 1931. My research suggests that all the Pilbara cases were found on pastoral stations nearer to the coast and I found no records of any removed from the Bunjima territory.

7.3 Conclusion
188.
During the first fifty years of European settlement in the Pilbara, the settled districts were affected by introduced disease. The high death toll of small pox and measles accounts only for those Aboriginal deaths counted by the settlers. Many more Aborigines, as Harper intimates, may have gone into the bush to seek traditional remedies and died uncounted. I have considered whether introduced disease and  in particular measles or small pox, was at the root of the shifts in the Bunjima people and their boundaries commented on by Tindale and included in Section two of this report. The archival records for 1883, which I have seen over the years, identify measles in the southwest, the Gascoyne and in the Kimberley. As many as eighty men died on Rottnest Island that year, of measles and influenza. However, I simply do not know how far inland these diseases spread and if they did pass through the Hamersley Range, it was not recorded.    
SECTION EIGHT     LAW,  POLICE AND PRISON
8.1 Introduction
189 
In this section of the report, I consider the possible impact on the Bunjima Trial Area of the removal of men and women by the police to court and prison. The word Bunjima does not appear in archival records and so I searched on the Hamersley Range and the pastoral stations associated with the Bunjima Trial Area. This required searching the police and prison records of the North West of Australia for the period 1876 -1916 and the Rottnest Island Prison records for the years between 1864 when the Pilbara was open to pastoralists and pearling, and 1902, when the island prison closed. By then most Pilbara prisoners were being accommodated at the Roebourne Gaol. In my opinion, other pastoral districts, such as the Gascoyne and Upper Murchison, used the law to remove men surplus to the needs of the industry. In the Pilbara, however, the pearling and pastoral industries competed for men and fewer were sent to Rottnest and in fact a number of Rottnest prisoners were assigned to Roebourne pearling masters.
190.  I also searched the Police Gazettes from 1876 to 1890 and there are many entries of Pilbara interest. These, however, are too brief to be of much value and usually present only the name of the person arrested and the name of the arresting officer. The location of the arrest and the names of the victims rarely get a mention and the time it would take to trace each item back to a police file or court record is unlikely to contribute much to our knowledge of Bunjima Trial Area. 
191.
Roebourne was proclaimed a town in 1866 and although one or two constables were assigned to the district, it lacked a regular police station until 1876. The Roebourne Police District was vast and before the settlement at Broome, Officers based at Roebourne patrolled as far north as La Grange Bay and east to the Hamersley Range. The one-man police depot established on the De Grey River in 1882 was relocated to Marble Bar in 1892 and two constables detached from Roebourne opened a police station at Nullagine in 1889. Tableland Station on the track to Mt Florance pastoral station opened in 1892 and closed in 1915.
 A ration depot at Tableland commenced under police supervision and then by a civilian manager until the Second World War when the depot and the indigents were transferred to Middle Creek pastoral station and several years after the war, all the residents were relocated onto   Roebourne Reserve. 
192.
In my search of North West police records I selected only the few that have some mention of Hamersley Range, Rocklea, Mulga Downs, Hamersley, Juna, Marillana or Mt Florance pastoral stations.  In the police patrol reports Aboriginal people are identified by name and locality but not by ‘tribe’ or language group. 
193.
The Police Department files for the North West, including the Pilbara, are mostly routine patrols which  to isolated pastoral stations.   To this point of my research, I have not found mention of police patrols to Juna Downs or Marillana pastoral stations.  The extant police files for the area under review, unlike those for the Kimberley, rarely refer to violent encounters between police and Aborigines or between pastoralists and Aborigines and from this I conclude that a more congenial reciprocal relationship existed in Pilbara and that this may be seen in the Bunjima Trial Area. 
194.
My search of the Rottnest Island Prison records revealed only ten men with some link to the Hamersley Range. The abbreviation  FFH and page number for the prisoner entries at 8.2, refers to Far From Home: Aboriginal Prisoners of Rottnest Island 1838-1931, that lists most of the estimated 3,500 men who served all or part of their sentences on Rottnest Island.
 The first three men on the Rottnest list were arrested in the Hamersley Range yet their home territory is said to be Esperance, on the southwest coast of Western Australia. It was not uncommon for settlers with southern pastoral or farming interests, to bring their own servants from the south. A number of Rottnest prisoners were assigned to pearling luggers and others served as guides to northern expeditions or paroled out to a police stations as trackers and police assistants. Regardless of their origins, these southerners were collectively referred to as ‘Swan River Natives’. When a Northwest prisoner was discharged from Rottnest, he was booked onto a ship sailing north given a deck place or carried in the hold and released at Onslow or Cossack. These released prisoners were supposed to be escorted to their home territory but more often than not, they were given a bag of rations and sent out of town to find their own way home. 

8.2    Rottnest Island Aboriginal Prison Records 
195
Charlie Bolidar, said to have come from Esperance, perhaps brought to the north as a servant or police assistant, was arrested in the Hamersley Range in 1889, convicted of the murders of five Aborigines and sentenced to five years at Rottnest where he was received on 23 July 1889 and discharged on 3 July 1894.  FFH p. 119.  

196.
Bobby Conbee, arrested in the Hamersley Range in 1889 and convicted of the murder of three Aborigines and received five years at Rottnest. His home locality also given as Esperance.FFH p.142.
197.
Walernie Weejee said to be originally from Esperance was arrested in the Hamersley Range 1889 and convicted of the murders of three Aborigines CSR 467/90. FFH p.292.
198.
Cullinger, arrested in the Hamersley Range in 1881, charged theft and received six months. He was returned to Roebourne later the same year to stand trial for the murder of Legood. He died at Roebourne of an inflammation of the intestines, CSR 1444-68/1881, 3 December, FFH  p. 152.  

199.
Arthur Carlabangunburra was received at Rottnest on 18 April 1888 pending trial for the murder of a Chinaman named Indyco @ Judy Co, employed by McRea and Thompson at Hamersley Range. He was convicted and executed on 13 June 1888, FFH p.134.    

200.
Dickie Elvigee (aka Dick Uluifee) was sentenced in 1890 to five years at Rottnest for the murder of an Aboriginal man and woman at Hamersley Range, FFH p.168 and p.290.
201.
Tommy Mungerong of the Hamersley Range was arrested in 1891 and sentenced to two years at Rottnest for cattle stealing. He died at Rottnest on 4 March 1892, FFH p.242.
202
Mick Bowman was in 1895 sentenced to five years at Rottnest Prison for the murder of Booregoora at Hamersley.  Discharged from Rottnest on 26 May 1900, FFH p.122.
203.
Jacky Kianardi was arrested in the Hamersley Range in 1896, convicted of murder and sentenced to five years at Rottnest. In 1902, he was assigned to Moora Police station as a tracker and later received  a remittance of sentence for King Edward VII’s coronation but he absconded before Moora police was informed and was not seen again, FFH p.207.

204.
Yalyernie was arrested in the Hamersley Range in 1892 and sentenced to five years on Rottnest, FFH p.322

8.3
Roebourne Gaol 
205.
The majority of men at Roebourne Gaol between 1901 and 1909
  were from the Kimberley,  from Broome, north of Derby, Halls Creek and north to Wyndham. Of an estimated 450 men who served time at Roebourne gaol between 1901-1909 only 107 were from the Pilbara and Ashburton combined. This number reflects the mass arrests and bulk sentencing of the period. For example, eight men charged at the same time for sheep stealing and received 12 months and in a different case  24 men were convicted of cattle stealing.  This, however, does not apply to the stations of interest for the Bunjima Trial Area where the crimes were of a minor nature and those convicted usually received short sentences which  suggests to me that labour was too valuable to  to waste in prison.  In 1901 the warder at Roebourne questioned the legality of sentencing an un-named Mt Florance man for having no visible means of support because he refused offers of employment. The 1902 Roebourne prison list has Dick @ Cyalbing from  Hamersley station who stole a pair of trousers and Peter @ Earunbung of Mount Florance station who struck an Aboriginal woman, serving six months and three months respectively.  In 1905, Peteronbung @Tommy Tucker from Yandeyarra station got three months for being on licensed premises and his mate Wallauabung, also three months for being in possession of a bottle of gin. Then in 1916,  I found  four men from Mount Florance station, Waugie @ Sam, Naranbardie@Jerry, Ginnber @ Jimmy and Yalgi @ Jinny @ Larringarra serving four months for stealing.  The above cases are the only men that I found in the prison records with any relationship, slight though it may be,  to the Bunjima Trial Area and, when I consider the Roebourne Gaol sentences it is my opinion that so few men  removed to prison for such short terms would not diminish the population of the Hamersley region or impact adversely upon the customary practices of people associated with the Bunjima Trial Area.
8.4.
North West police records

206.
In 1886, Constable G. Payne went in search of Aboriginal offenders Charlie, Bill and Snowball at Mt Florance station. Warrants were also issued for the arrests of Owen, Whitehead and Daddy for absconding from their master’s service. These men were most likely to be engaged under the Masters and Servants Act and could be sentenced to three months for absconding. Constable Payne observed that a Mr Cummings, presumed to be the manager of Mt Florance, kept five Aboriginal children at the homestead where he was attempting to civilize them. Another offender named Dillaguley @ Johnny
 was added to the wanted list. A 1886 police investigation into the fatal shooting of Tanaguare @ Jimmy on Tableland refers to the Aborigines frequenting the Hamersley Range.  P.C. Phillips includes in his report, a rare mention of language, “The language of the Natives frequenting the Hamersley Range is very different from Eastwards and Northwards of Roebourne” Phillips engaged as his interpreter a part-Aboriginal man named Thomas Parvidle who claimed to speak the Hamersley dialect.
 
207.
In 1891, James Coppin was visiting Cungelargaran to muster wild cattle when he was speared at Tourney Creek in the Hamersley Range.
  In July 1891, the following men were arrested: Tapony, Parrody, Larney, Dickey, Harrey [sic], Chubbagin and Jimmy.
  James Coppin's ‘woman’ Wananburry @ Maggie, gave evidence that Billy, George, Mickey, Calingo, Wanderubu, Parody and a boy named  Mackoruby, killed Coppin. 
  

208.
Apart from the aforementioned cases the police patrol reports of visits  to stations associated with the Bunjima Trial Area contain routine information and little of real value. In the paragraphs that follow I note those reports that refer to named persons such as a 1913 complaint from Mulga Downs station that C. O’Connell supplied alcohol to Punch, Bob, Nancy and Biddy.
 
209.
During a visit to Hamersley Station in 1912, Constable Napier noted twenty Aborigines at work and, after inspecting a bush camp just beyond the station paddocks, he took several people into Hamersley Station for a medical inspection.
 On 9 July 1914 Constable Napier when near Hamersley Station,  took statements from Aborigines Larry and Jimmy.  Three days later, Mr S. Criddle, the manager of Mulga Downs reported “Numbers of strange natives in the station Native camp” and an investigation revealed that the reason was that three station boys were being circumcised. Separate from the ceremony is a report of the deaths of Judy and Maggie, recently of Mulga Downs.

210.
The Roebourne Police Journal for January 1916 has brief references to named persons at Mulga Downs, Hamersley, Mt Florance and Cooyapooya stations.  At Malay Well, near Wittenoom Gorge, Constable N.A. Lewis arrested Jenaben, Tenaben @ Jimmy, Naranhardie @ Jerry, Wangie @ Sam and Yalgoo @ Friday.  On 20th April 1916 at Hamersley Station, Jugine @ Ashburton Tommy was interviewed regarding a theft at Hamersley Station.  Another name in this file is Karra @ Paddy AKA Wingjung @ Paddy.
 A routine search of Aboriginal camps at Hamersley station in January 1917 produced several Winchester rifles in the possession of Merabung @ Bonger, Kialbung @ Dick, Wongermurrie @ Millstream George.  This was a breach of the Aborigines Act 1905 prohibiting Aborigines from possessing firearms.
 In October 1918, M. Williams, the acting manager of Hamersley reported bush Aborigines starting fires that destroyed the station fences. Constable Delaport chased them away from the station.

211.
In July 1918, Hancock, the manager of Mulga Downs reported the deaths of Buncannawama @Billie aged 70, Canajong @ Jessie (45) and Wanganie @ Mary (66).
 One large police file includes comments by Constables Morrow and Simmons on the removal of children in 1923 and a 1939 reference to colds and whooping cough at Mulga Downs and to Lang Hancock holding a permit to employ 13 persons. 
 

212.
Reports of the murder of an Aborigine at Mundiwindi in August 1928 revealed that people from several stations including Mulga Downs and Rocklea, were conducting ceremonies there when a man was murdered.
  Police were shooting camp dogs at the Marillana Aborigines camp in March 1929.
 In December 1930 Hamersley station manager, W. Roberts asked Constable Gibson to remove four Aborigines who did not belong to Hamersley.

213.
In March 1931 Constable Gibson visited  Mulga Downs  and reported there were no complaints  and received the same reply at Hamersley station noting, “In reference to natives, there are getting quite a number rambling around the Tableland, when interviewed state they can’t get food or much work.”
 In August 1933, Constable Bell with Mr Roberts the Hamersley station manager, searched for bush Aborigines thought to be camped in Canyon George but they had gone.

8.5
Conclusion
 214.
When the number of removals by police or the rate of imprisonment of Aboriginal from the Bunjima and the district surrounding this territory is small compared with other districts over the same period.  The Upper Gascoyne and Upper Murchison at the headwaters of the Ashburton and Fortescue Rivers would have represented 25 percent of the Rottnest Island prisoners between 1882 and 1885 and perhaps reflects the supply and demand for Aboriginal labour. Charles Straker’s report makes it clear that despite the nuisance of Hamersley Range ‘bush’ Aborigines killing stock and disturbing the employees, the station managers were attempting to lure them into the workforce. There is obviously a shortage of Aboriginal staff. Further to the east, Aborigines from Peak Hill and east were being drawn by curiosity or driven by drought towards fringe pastoral stations that had no need for them and the JP pastoralists, especially the Darlot brothers, solved their own problems by sentencing these men to terms on Rottnest Island. As for the region of my report, three of those arrested in the Hamersley region and shipped off to Rottnest were not even local men. As for Roebourne Gaol, for the period 1901-1916, I could identify only eight men in total from Hamersley, Mount Florance and Yandeyarra stations and,  as stated previously, their terms in gaol did not remove them from the home territory for prolonged periods (moving beyond 1920 would be too close to the present so that was the limit of my search). Thus in my opinion, the number of men that I can identify from the Bunjima Trial Area and adjacent pastoral stations was relatively few and unlikely to have had a significant impact upon the cultural life of the district or diminish the population to a critical level. 
SECTION NINE   POLICY, LAW AND PILBARA PEOPLE 
9.1 Introduction
215.
This section of the report address item 9(f) of the historian’s brief.  I have no doubt at all that the lives of Western Australia’s Aboriginal population  was controlled by policy that had in mind what was thought best for Aborigines and the legislation of any era reflects the policy and I would add, the prevailing public attitudes towards Aboriginal people. The statute books contain more legislation pertaining to Aborigines than any other ethnic group in Australia. For this section of my report I have dispensed with legislation that had no bearing on the lives of  the Bunjima people, for example the employment of Aborigines in the Pearl Fisheries legislation. 
9.2   Protection Policy 

216   When the first Pilbara leases were taken up in 1864, there was no defined policy for Aborigines as it was generally thought that they would die out. In 1886, Governor Broome, responding to reports of slavery and abuse in the North West reviewed the employment practices and the Aborigines Protection Act 1886 established an Aborigines Protection Board (APB) to oversee the welfare of Aborigines, and introduced signed employment agreements.  Mr Charles Straker was appointed by the APB to inspect and report on the Aborigines at the North West pastoral stations and these reports for stations associated with the Bunjima Trial Area were discussed in Section Four of my report. 
217.
In 1904, Walter Roth, the Chief Protector of Queensland, held a Royal Commission into Aboriginal Affairs in Western Australia and his report, tabled in the Western Australian Parliament in 1905, endorsed the twin principles of protection and segregation.
 Roth drew attention to the fact that the Chief Protector, under the existing legislation, had no legal powers to remove children from a parent or to place them at missions and other institutions.  In his annual report for 1902, Chief Protector Prinsep recommended that future legislation address this issue
 and the Roth report convinced parliament of the need to do so.
218.
The Aborigines Act, 1905, gave the Chief Protector limited powers of removal, but with an amendment to the Act in 1911, his authority as a child’s guardian now over-rode that of the mother. The removal of children as a painful legacy of the 1905 Act has been well documented by Anna Haebich.
 My report has referred to the 1922 and 1947 census and the identification of part aboriginal children on Mulga Downs, Mount Florance and Rocklea pastoral stations and the removal of several children in 1946 by Inspector O’Neill. 

219.
In 1936, the amended 1905 Act, the  Natives Administration Act, 1936  brought under the Act all children classed as quarter-caste or ‘quadroon’ being the term preferred by Commissioner A.O. Neville.  This widened the net for the removal of Aboriginal children.  
220.
The Natives (Citizenship Rights) Act, 1944 was directed to the Aboriginal men and women who saw military service during the Second World War and it was subsequently broadened to allow any Aboriginal person to apply to a local magistrate and a successful applicant paid ten shillings for a certificate with a passport size photo that was be carried at all times and produced on demand. However, the conditions for a successful application, included separation from the traditional culture and persons still under the Act, and a demonstrated capacity to manage their household affairs. When the Native Welfare Officer conducted the annual station census he usually printed ‘CR’ alongside the names of those with citizenship rights. The absence of ‘CR’ in the reports seen for the Bunjima Trial Area,  does in my opinion, indicate that  these people considered that the social and cultural sacrifices outweighed the gains.  The Natives (Citizenship Rights) Act, was amended in 1950, 1951, 1958, 1964 and repealed in 1971.  
9.3 Assimilation policy

221.
It is a common mistake to associate the 1951 national policy of assimilation with the removal of children and biological assimilation inherent in the Aborigines Act 1905 and the amending Act of 1936. Professor Rowley when responding to uninformed criticism of Paul Hasluck, the Federal Minister for the Territories who introduced the national policy,  replied, “Those who have been the outstanding spokesmen for assimilation, like Elkin [Professor A.P. Elkin] and Hasluck, no matter to what extent they have had to compromise with an actual political situation, have not been advocates of racial absorption or of the disappearance of Aboriginal culture.”
 
222.
At a national meeting of the heads of Aborigines Departments at Canberra in September 1951, social assimilation was adopted as the goal and education as the instrument for achieving it.
 In a statement of policy, in October 1951, Hasluck described it as a policy of opportunity  to allow Aboriginal people to shape their own lives: “If he succeeds, it places no limit on his success but opens the door fully….We have set ourselves a humane task, we have founded our resolve on a faith in the capacity of human beings and we have shaped our plan on the best traditions of democratic life in Australia.”
 Referring to the future of those Aboriginal people living a traditional lifestyle, Hasluck said, “even if we wished to place the remnant of tribal natives in some sort of anthropological zoo in the isolated corners of the continent, it is extremely doubtful whether we could arrest the curiosity that is daily extending their knowledge of white ways.” 
  We see this ‘curiosity’ in the 1950s and 1960s on missions and stations when the policies of protection and segregation were moderated and many people exercised their rights to choose where to live. 
223.
In 1952 the Commissioner of Native Affairs, Stanley Middleton, transferred the authority to remove an Aboriginal child to the Child Welfare Department to process each case though established procedures such as the Children’s Court.  Middleton, by the terms of the Native Welfare Act, 1954, continued in the role of guardian and most likely authorised numbers of removals.  The employment permit system was abolished in 1954 and in the same year, all proclamations prohibiting Aborigines being within the limits of named towns, without lawful reasons, were repealed. The assimilation policy encouraged government to amend the laws that discriminated against Aborigines, such as the law controlling access to alcohol and to make schooling more accessible to Aboriginal children. I would point out that there never was any legislation or clause in any Education Act in Western Australia that barred Aboriginal children from admission to government schools.  The twin barriers to an equal education were distance and racial attitudes.
9.4 Commonwealth legislation and policy
224. 
Previously I referred to a query from Rocklea station manager about eligibility for Child Endowment. The amount was small but it was, for many Aboriginal women, the first cash in hand ever received. The Child Endowment Act 1941 granted the mother of every child under the age of 16, with the exception of the eldest child, a small monthly payment. It was not paid to nomadic Aborigines or to those mothers whose children were in mission or Government care and in many instances the Commonwealth referred the initial applications to the Commissioner for Native Affairs. Mr Bray. Eligibility for the Maternity Allowance Act 1942 (Commonwealth) and conditions similar to the Child Endowment. 
 225.
The Aboriginal people of the Pilbara were also marginalised by Commonwealth Social Services legislation and their access to the age pension was determined, not by lifestyle, as in the case of the Child Endowment, but by the fraction of Aboriginal ‘blood’ in their veins. The Invalid and Old Age Pensions Act 1942 (Cth) acknowledged only those Aborigines who were exempt from State Aborigines legislation.  
226.
The Social Services Consolidation Act 1947 (Cth) retained the same conditions of eligibility and very few station workers were exempt from the State Aborigines legislation.  In 1959 the Social Services Act 1959 (Cth) abolished the caste qualification and extended the aged pension to all people of Aboriginal descent living  a settled lifestyle, including those on pastoral stations, missions and town reserves. It is my opinion that many eligible and active elderly Aboriginal people now had the choice of living on the station or shifting onto the town reserves at Roebourne or Onslow and becoming eligible for Native Welfare housing. 

227.    By the National referendum of May 1967 the Australian Constitution was amended to remove elements that had discriminated against Aborigines. Section 51 (xxvi) “the people of any race, other than the aboriginal race in any State, for whom it is deemed necessary to make special laws” was amended by striking out ‘other than the aboriginal race’.  And Section 127 was repealed to allow all persons of Aboriginal descent to be counted at a National or State census.  The is a common misconception  that the 1967 referendum gave Aborigines the right to vote but five years before the referendum, the Commonwealth Electoral Act 1962 (Cth) gave all Aboriginal adults in Australia the right, “to enrol and vote as an elector of the Commonwealth.” The same year, an amendment to the Western Australian Electoral Act gave Aboriginal people the same rights to enrol to vote in State elections. I have read nothing to suggest that this legislation influenced the lives and activities of the Bunjima people. 
228.
In 1965 the Commonwealth Conciliation and Arbitration Commission, handed down a varying order to the Pastoral Industry Award 1965 and the award flowed on to Aboriginal men in the Western Australian pastoral industry. It is my opinion that this Award did not change, in any significant way, the employment of Aboriginal people in the Bunjima Trial Area. The drift away from stations and towards the town reserves or into alternative employment was discernable before the Award became effective in Western Australia on 1 December 1968. 
229.
The National referendum in May 1967 authorised the Commonwealth parliament to make special laws for Aborigines where it was deemed necessary to do so. Flowing on from that was the creation of a Commonwealth Department of Aboriginal Affairs (DAA), the extension of the powers of the Commonwealth Office of Education to fund Aboriginal community schools, the national policy of self-determination, laws to prevent discrimination against all people including Aborigines.  
230. The Western Australian Aborigines Heritage Act 1972 and the subsequent amendments did not offer adequate protection for sites threatened by mining ventures. This failure to protect indigenous rights to the land or benefit from mining on their land was demonstrated at Noonkanbah in the West Kimberley in 1980
 and in the East Kimberley Argyle diamond ventures described by Will Christianson
 and  Michael Dillon
 The Mabo decision of 3 June 1992 resulted in the Native Title Act 1993 (Cth) which has given Indigenous people and those of the Bunjima Trial Area  the opportunity to have a voice in mining and development.  
9.5 Conclusion

231. Pastoral station families in a working relationship with a pastoralist employer, could not avoid the influence of  legalisation and policy. When the Pilbara was settled in 1864 Aboriginal servants entered into a masters and servants contract. The fact that they had no knowledge of a contact or even their obligation and duties as a servant is quite irrelevant.  As policy changed they in a sense drifted from one policy to the next. The Protection policy treated them as children requiring constant supervision and care on pastoral stations at missions or in government institutions. 
232.
The 1951 assimilation policy was promoted as a policy of equity and opportunity but many indigenous people drawn towards the towns were not accepted as equals and the opportunities were few. I have endeavoured to show that even the pensions and commonwealth benefits intended for all Australians were sometimes denied to Aborigines, for example the aged pension. The state laws, for the first half of the 20th century could control marriages, movement across the State, employment, place of residence, access into towns, possession  of firearms and in particular circumstance the control of a mother’s children.   

SECTION   TEN    THE IMPACT OF  MINING
9.1
Introduction
233.
This section has proved to be the most difficult to source and compile. It is recognised that the lives of many of the Bunjima People are linked to Mulga Downs and Hamersley stations and that these two stations in turn are linked to the Hancock family and mining. In the early years, it was asbestos and now the dominant ore is iron.  

234.
I found two biographies of Lang Hancock, Rogue Bull (1979) by Robert Duffield an accomplished journalist and Lang Hancock (2001) by Debi Marshall. If the first is read the second is unnecessary.  Apart from the aforementioned books the State Library information about the iron ore industry is limited to ephemera that terminates at 1998.  The abolition of the statutory legal deposit in Western Australia that required one copy of  books, newsletters, etc published in Western Australia to be deposited in W.A. State Library,   appears to have ended the flow of mining company ephemera into the library collection.  The Department of Minerals and Energy library was searched but had fewer documents on the Hamersley Range and mining in the region than has the State Library. As stated much of the mining literature is publicity material with very little reference  to Aborigines. 
235.
Looking at the range of sources about Aborigines and mining there are  some period pieces but out of date and have nothing of relevance for the Bunjima Trial Area and a more meaningful method of representing the progress of mining in and near to the Bunjima Trail Area is  with a chronology of these event.
         Chronology of  mining and Indigenous interests 
1898 
  Pilbara asbestos was sent to Sydney for analysis. 

1900 
Mulga Downs bought out by Lang Hancock’s father.

1918  
Lang Hancock discovers blue asbestos in Wittenoom Gorge.
1934 
Islwyn Walters, Manager of Asbestos Molybenum and Tungsten Co examined  a block of asbestos being used as a door-stop at  Mulga Downs station and  offered Lang Hancock $150 per ton of asbestos.
1936-37 
In Yampire Gorge about 200 men were hacking out asbestos. Claude de Bernales the mining entrepreneur and Walters in partnership to mine asbestos.
1938 
Hancock and Wright formed a partnership to mine asbestos in Wittenoom Gorge and entered into an unwritten ‘handshake ‘contract.
1940 
Iron ore export embargo was imposed because Australia was thought to have very little iron ore.  This may have been one outcome of the legal situation that made every major iron ore deposit discovered reserved for the Crown.  
1940
Unconfirmed reports that constables at Tableland were engaging Aborigines to prospect for asbestos. 
 (Section six para. 137)

1943
Lang Hancock said to be using station employment permits to have Aboriginal workers gouging asbestos.
 An inspection later that year assured Commissioner Bray that no aborigines were working asbestos. (Section four  paras 95-97)
1943 
Colonial Sugar Refineries go into partnership with Hancock and Wright.  CSR was already producing ‘concrete’ for housing. Asbestos proved to be invaluable for roofing houses during the post war housing boom. The company was Australian Blue Asbestos.
1948 
Hancock and Wright withdrew and CSR had the monopoly of blue asbestos mining in the Pilbara.

1948 
Hancock mining the smaller deposits of white asbestos at Nunyerry in the Chichester Range.
1950 
BHP hoping to commercialize the iron ore deposits at Mount Koolyanobing to the east of Perth.
1950 
Lang Hancock seeks the backing of Rio Tinto and possible partnership in Mount Goldsworthy; this failed.
1952 
Hancock was in partnership with Peter Wright – and he had a moderate asbestos mine at Nungery at the headwaters of Turner (now Beasley) River, a tributary of the Ashburton River.  Saw evidence of iron ore in the gorge walls.  He later took samples that proved to be 50% iron ore with a potential tonnage in the millions.  In the following year, Hancock teamed up with Ken McCamery to conduct aerial prospecting across the Hamersley Range.  The potential was far beyond the Commonwealth Government estimates for all Australia.
 

1959 
The town of Wittenoom housed 1100 people associated with the mining industry.

1960  
the Commonwealth Government eased the iron embargo and in December the first iron ore export permit was granted to the Mineral, Mining and Exports  (WA) Pty. Ltd. to ship iron ore  to Japan..
1960 
 Economic deposits proven at Robe River and at Mt Newman.
1961 
Haematite ore proved on Hamersley Station.  Notion of “the 1,000 mile iron ore horizon” est. “350 million tons of high grade haematite, ranging 58 to 62 percent iron.  This latter figure alone, remember, is roughly equivalent to the total known Australian ore reserves a year or so earlier”.

1961 
Lang Hancock persuaded Rio Tinto’s Chief Executive in London, Sir Val Duncan to come to Perth to discuss mining iron ore.   
1961 
Rio Tinto geologist Bruno Campana verified Hancock’s confidence in the quality and quantity of iron ore.
1961 
March 29 Premier David Brand announced a change in Government policy regarding iron ore exploration and tenure. The Western Australian Government had legislated to exclude private tenure of iron ore.

1962  
Conzinc Rio Tinto an Australian (CRA) ‘branch’ of Rio Tinto becomes involved in the iron ore negotiations.
1962 
Tom Price the senior partner in Rio Tinto inspects the iron ore samples.
1962 
CRA geologists discover Mt Tom Price.
1963 
June, Western Australian Government and Hamersley Holdings sign the Hamersley Iron Ore Agreement.  Hancock and Wright negotiated a 2.5% royalty on the value of each ton of ore exported.  In 1979, this gave the partners $50,000 a day. 
1963 
Zinc Corp geologists map a new discovery at Mt Tom Price claimed by Hamersley Iron with an agreement to pay Hancock and Wright a royalty.
1964 
Letter of intent for 54.5 million tons of ore to be shipped to Japan 1966-1982.
1966 
New Iron Age in the Hamersley’s.
  Mt Tom Price was described as the world’s largest lump of high-grade haematite ore, 500,000,000 tons.
1966 
Hancock interests the American multi-millionaire, Daniel K Ludwig of National Bulk Carriers (NBC) to consider investing in Hancock’s sites. Hancock had interests in Nimingarra and Yarrie near Mt Goldsworthy and a haematite deposit near Wittenoom.
1966 
CRA closed the blue asbestos mine. Hancock and Wright bought Wittenoom Gorge mine.

1966 Hancock finds good iron ore at Mt Lockyer that was later renamed Koodaideri.  Tom Price and Paraburdoo were both Hancock discoveries although alternative claims to the discovery of the Tom Price deposits are made by Hamersley Iron Ore and Conzinc Rio Tinto.  WA Government resumed Koodaideri.

1966 
July 182 mile standard gauge rail completed linking Mt Tom Price with Dampier.
1966 
August first shipment of Pilbara iron ore to Japan.
1966 
Tom Price mining commenced.

1966   The Hamersley Iron Project was described at the time as the State’s biggest industrial undertaking with 179 miles of rail completed in 20 months linking Mt Tom Price to the coast. Mt Tom Price claimed to be the world’s biggest single lump of high-grade haematite at an estimated 500 million tons. 

1968 
 Daniel K. Ludwig NBC sets out a master plan that would coordinate mining, transport, harbour facilities and shipping giving his company NBC a monopoly. Ludwig explained that it was horizontal and vertical integration.  Horizontal meaning that if you rely on shipping then you must have something to ship and a vertical is that in order to survive a company must grow.  The plan was rejected by the Western Australian Government but continued to be Hancock’s vision.

1972 
Hancock at Marandoo. State Labor Government gave Hancock tenure over Marandoo mining at Murra mamba.

1973 
Paraburdoo commenced
1977 
Wittenoom Mine was closed

1977  
Lang Hancock  in possession of Hamersley and Mulga Downs Stations.
1977
Kingsley Palmer paper on Aboriginal stone arrangement at Packsaddle  in the Hamersley Range.

1978  
Mt Tom Price – discovered by Conzinc Riot Tinto geologists Bill Burns and Ian Witcher in September 1962 estimated to have 900 million tones of top grade ore. Paraburdoo deposit discovered in 1960s by Mt Isa Mines Ltd. Others are Brockman, Metawandy Koodaideri, Mount Pyrton and Nammuldi-Silvergrass, Beasley River and Duck Creek-Boolgeeda Creek. Two of the most significant deposits of high-grade ore (60%) are the Brockman Iron formation and Marra Mamba Iron Formation.
  The first is 670 metres thick and Mamba is 180 metres thick.  
1985
Archaeological and ethnographic survey commissioned by Hamersley Iron Pty. Ltd. conducted by S. Kee, Linda Strawbridge, and Robert Tonkinson. Tonkinson met with at least 14 named elders and provides an excellent social history of the amalgamation of people from different regions on pastoral stations.
 

1987 The Mount Channar Iron Ore Project
 was the first major Iron mining joint venture with China.  This particular report relates to environmental protection.  The mine is a particular section of southern Hamersley Range and about 25km east of Paraburdoo and the goal is 200 million tonnes over 22 years.  The project will draw approximately 1.3 million litres of water per year from near Turee Creek (bores). Mining operations at Mt Channar commenced in 1990.

1994 
Marandoo mining commenced.

1996 
The Aboriginal Heritage of Karijini National Park, 1996, Report-WankaMaya Pilbara Aboriginal Language Centre (1996).The report includes the traditional names for sites in the Hamersley Range and an outline of contact history in the region and the early pastoral region. In the summary of this report by Leonie Stella, it is unclear who undertook the historical research and the evidence for some of the impact descriptions and claims these include the impact of government policy and practices but there is nothing tangible. There is reference to Aboriginal people working in the asbestos industry and t would be useful to have specific details instead of generalised statements that Aborigines were exploited in the asbestos mines between 1960 and 1975. There is mention of ration depots set up but no locations are given. It is implied incorrectly that the removal policy applied to all Aboriginal children.
   

1997 
March. The Yandi Land Use Agreement with the Gumala Aboriginal Land Corporation – representing a number of Indigenous Groups (March 1997) for the development of Yandicoogina.  “Under the agreement, Hamersley will provide Aboriginal Community development, training, employment, and business assistance over the life of the mine, estimated at $60 million over 20 years.”
 The ore train from Yandi will be 2 kilometres long – having 226 cars carrying about 22,000 tonnes of ore. (on line source Agreements, Treaties and Negotiated settlements (atns)www.atns.net.au/agreement.)

1998 
“Strength in the Pilbara” Hamersley Iron Pty Ltd printed about 1998.  Between 1966 and 1998, Hamersley exported more than one billion tones of high-grade ore.  By 1998, Hamersley had developed six major mines in the Pilbara.

1998 
Yandicoogina commenced mining.
1999 “West Angelas Mine Proposal” Robe River Mining Co Responses to Submissions c1999
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1994 
Historical issues in the Northeast Kimberley 1882-1972, a Mirriuwung Gadgerong.
1994  
with Chris Stronach, Pastoral lease history in the east Kimberley.

1995 
History of Aboriginal access to Pastoral Leases and relevance for Western Australian Native Title.

1997
A Report on the Christopher Bodney Genealogy,  for Blake Dawson Waldron, December 1997. (Native title)

1998   
History resource survey for the Goldfields Indigenous Land Council
1999
A history of education in the Northern Territory 1945-1965, prepared for the Australian Government Solicitor’s Office, January 1999
1999
A history of Aboriginal (Ngaluma Injibandi) and European interaction in the Pilbara region of Western Australia.
1999 
An Aboriginal history of the region of the Ngangawongka, Wadjari and Ngarla in the Upper Murchison/Upper Gascoyne.

2000 
A preliminary history of Aborigines and Europeans in Dampier Land in the west Kimberley.
2000 
A preliminary history of  Aborigines and Europeans in the central northern region of the Kimberley.

2003  
An Aboriginal presence in the Perth metropolitan area 1929-1970.

2007 
History connection report for  Puutu Kunti Kurrama and Pinikura (WC01/5) and Puutu Kunti Kurrama and Pinikura 2 (WC05/4).

2008         
History connection report for the Pilbara region covering seven Connection report for the Pilbara on behalf of  WC05/6 Nyiyaparli; WC97/43 Gobawarrah Minduarrah Yinhawanga;  WC98/62 Martu Idja Banyjima People;  WC98/69 Innawonga People; WC96/61 Innawonga and Bunjima people; WC01/5Puutu Kunti Kurrama and Pinikura;  WC05/4 Puutu Kunti Kurrama and Pinikura 2; WC99/12 Kuruma Marthudunera (Combined); WC05/3 Ngarlawangga People.

2008 
Teacher soldiers of World War 1. An Anzac Day  grant to compile brief profiles of the estimated  160 teachers, most being graduates of Claremont Teachers College, who enlisted in World War 1. 

2009 
Desktop study of historical sources  of  Rottnest Island prepared  for Kado Muir, Aboriginal Heritage Consultants. Sources with relevance to sites as defined in Section 5 of the Aboriginal Heritage Act. 
2009
Report on a genealogical survey for Mr. Cedric Jacobs, 12 September 2009.

2009
History consultant for the Rottnest Island Quod video documentary

 Book reviews

1992-2007 
Ten books reviewed for professional journals and popular press.

Resource material for children 
1978
Articles: Yellagonga, Mokare and others  in Djawal-Idi and Kura published for schools Education Dept of W.A.

1984     
 Nyungar Past and Present A resource designed for class years 4-9 consisting of 51 double sided cards, two resource books, 3 maps and a teacher’s guide.  The resource traced the process of change in the Aboriginal population of southwestern Australia 1829 to recent times.
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Four brief interactive plays based on  the trials of Aboriginal men at the Old Court House Perth written for the Burt Law Society.

· Weewar: 1842 a test of two laws’ established in Western Australian law that British law prevailed over indigenous law. (life imprisonment)

· Neu-an-ung: 1837 charged with stealing wheat and the bag when arrested was wearing the bag as a cloak (sentence -six months)

· Durgap: 1837 charged with breaking and entering and stealing a handful of dough ( sentence – seven years)

· Gogoot: 1837 charged with stealing 10 pounds of butter (sentence -seven years)
2004            With  Fazio, Mike and Harris, Trish, (eds),  a secondary school text, Society and Environment for Western Australia, John Wiley and Sons, Sydney

2004
Indigenous Peoples of Western Australia, SOSE Alive Project Books, John Wiley and Sons, Sydney
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1974
editor, ‘Deafness in Australia 1974’  (207 pages) presented to The Senate        Standing Committee on Health and Welfare; includes three submissions by Neville Green: 

‘Some of the social and educational problems of Aboriginal deaf children in Western Australia’. 

‘Survey of Aboriginal deaf children in Special Schools’. 

‘State and National co-ordinating organisations’.  
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Conference co-ordinator and co-editor (with Ed Brumby) of  ‘Preparing Teachers for Aboriginal Education’  a report on the 2nd National Conference of Teachers of Aboriginal Children’ at  Mt Lawley CAE, 28-31 August 1977. (155 pages)

1990 
A guide for Teachers and University Staff  teaching at Guangzhou, China
1993             Aboriginal  names of the South West c1841-90 (156 pages). Battye


1993            Aboriginal names of the Murchison  c1850-1890 (56 pages). Battye 
1993  
Aboriginal names of the Pilbara c 1870-1890; the Gascoyne c1880-1890; the Kimberley c1880-1890. Battye Library
2006
Government School created records c1891-2005
Conferences and other papers presented  1976-2010
1972 
‘A sailor in Search of a Port’ to the Mandurah Historical Society

1974 
‘The significance of Foundation Day’ Presbyterian Ladies College, June.

1976  
Some of the social and educational problems of Aboriginal deaf children in Western Australia’ Alice Springs conference on hearing impaired Aborigines, July 1976.

1976 ‘
Survey of Aboriginal deaf children in Special Schools’, Alice Springs conference on hearing impaired Aborigines. July 1976.

1988  
‘The Oombulgurri Story as a Community Project’ AIATSIS Canberra.

2005   
‘Robert Menli Lyon’s mapping of  Perth 1933’ prepared for the unveiling of the Victoria Park Heritage Circle  panel themes, 23 March 2005.

2005  
‘Useful, handy and helpful: 19th century institutions for Aboriginal children in the Perth metropolitan area, Victoria Park Library 26 May 2005. 

2006
 ‘Nyungar men and women of Perth’ to the History Council of Western Australia, June 2006.

2006 
 ‘School records in archives and schools’ Alexander Library 20 April 2006.

2009    
‘Traditional and post colonial shifts in the indigenous population of Perth      Western Australia   1837 -1991, IATSIS Indigenous Studies Conference, Canberra, 29 Sept. - 1 Oct. 2009.

2010  
‘Norman Tindale’s Nyungar tribal territories - fact or fabrication?’ paper to be read at the  Australian Historical Association Biennial Conference, Perth, 5-9 July 2010. 
2010  
‘The Other Gribble’ The ‘Gribble Affair’ of  1886-87 and the Western Australian Constitution, paper to be read to Royal Western Australian Historical Society, August. 
Other

1992 
Police Commissioner Brian Bull accepted  a submission on behalf of  six Aboriginal Police Assistants killed in the line of duty: 1890 Jimmy Parish Albany Station; 1895 Rocket east Kimberley; 1896 Willy East Kimberley; 1899 Dicky East Kimberley; 1900 Dong Fitzroy Crossing station and 1902 Wallaby Halls Creek Station. These men are now honoured on the Western Australian Police Memorial, Perth and on the Wall of Remembrance at the National Police Memorial in Canberra. 

Schedule 3

BRIEF

Background –Proceedings in respect of the Bunjima Trial Area
1. On 25 February 2010 the Federal Court made orders in the Innawonga Bunjima (WAD 6096 of 1998) and Martu Idja Banyjima (WAD 6278 of 1998) native title claim proceedings, programming both claims for hearing in July 2011.  The orders in the Innawonga Bunjima claim relate to part only of area currently the subject of that claim, being the land and waters within the external boundary shown as “Single Bunjima” on the map which is Annexure “SR-1” to the affidavit of Shahzad Rind sworn 22 February 2010 (“Bunjima Trial Area”).  A copy of that map is Attachment 1 to this brief.  The orders in the Martu Idja Banyjima claim relate to the whole of the area the subject of that claim.  The Martu Idja Banyjima claim is wholly within the Bunjima Trial Area.

2. As Principal Legal Officer of Yamatji Marlpa Aboriginal Corporation, I represent the applicant in the Innawonga Bunjima claim.  I also represent the persons who have been chosen to be the applicant in respect of a proposed new claim, to be known as the ‘Interim Bunjima Claim’.  The Interim Bunjima Claim was authorised at a meeting on 19 February 2010, but has not yet been filed in the Court.  The area of the proposed Interim Bunjima Claim generally corresponds with the Bunjima Trial Area.

3. I anticipate that after the Interim Bunjima Claim is lodged, a separate proceeding will be constituted which corresponds to the Bunjima Trial Area and encompasses the Interim Bunjima Claim, and so much of the Innawonga Bunjima claim, the Martu Idja Banyjima claim, and any other native title claim which falls within the Bunjima Trial Area.

4. One of the principal issues in the Bunjima Trial Area proceedings is whether:

(a) there is a single Bunjima communal native title covering the whole Bunjima Trial Area, and if so, who are the members of that Bunjima community; or 

(b) there are separate ‘Top End’ (or Milyaranba) Bunjima and ‘Bottom End’ (or Fortescue / Marduja / Mungurdu) Bunjima communal or group native titles, and if so:

(i) what are the boundaries of each such native title; and

(ii) who are the members of each such community or group?

5. Under the programming orders referred to in paragraph 1 above, the applicants in the Innawonga Bunjima and Martu Idja Banyjima claims are to file and serve any expert reports upon which they intend to rely, by 3 September 2010.  I anticipate that in due course a similar order will be made in respect of all the claims that will be dealt with in the Bunjima Trial Area proceeding, including the Interim Bunjima Claim.

6. On behalf of the Innawonga Bunjima and proposed Interim Bunjima applicants, I request that you prepare and provide me with a report, using your specialised knowledge based on your training, study and experience as an historian, which addresses the issues and complies with the requirements referred to below.

Brief – Substance of the report

7. Your report may be tendered in evidence in the Bunjima Trial Area proceedings to assist the Court in making a determination in accordance with section 225 of the Native Title Act 1993 (Cth) (“NTA”).  That section requires any determination to state, amongst other things, whether or not native title exists in relation to the Bunjima Trial Area and, if it does exist:

(a) who the persons, or each group of persons, holding the common or group rights comprising the native title are; and

(b) the nature and extent of the native title rights and interests in relation to the Bunjima Trial Area.
8. “Native title” is defined in s.223 of the NTA to mean the communal, group or individual rights and interests of Aboriginal peoples or Torres Strait Islanders in relation to land or waters, where:
(a) the rights and interests are possessed under the traditional laws acknowledged, and the traditional customs observed, by the Aboriginal peoples or Torres Strait Islanders; and

(b) the Aboriginal peoples or Torres Strait Islanders, by those laws and customs, have a connection with the land or waters; and

(c) the rights and interests are recognised by the common law of Australia.

9. More particularly, and to the limits of the available and relevant sources, your report should address the following issues:

Position at sovereignty

(a) The identity of the Aboriginal persons associated with the Bunjima Trial Area at sovereignty.  If there was more than one body or group of persons, identify as best you can who those persons were and the boundaries of the territory associated with each such body or group.

Continuity from sovereignty to the present

(b) Whether the Aboriginal persons associated with the Bunjima Trial Area at sovereignty have remained in occupation of, or have maintained a physical or other connection with, the area from sovereignty to the present.

(c) If there was more than one body or group of Aboriginal persons referred to in paragraph 0
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(a), whether those persons have remained an identifiable body or group of persons from sovereignty to the present, and the extent to which they have remained or become associated with particular parts of the Bunjima Trial Area from sovereignty to the present (and if so, which parts).

(d) If there was only one body or group of Aboriginal persons referred to in paragraph 0
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(a), whether and to what extent those Aboriginal persons have become associated with particular parts of the Bunjima Trial Area from sovereignty to the present (and if so, which parts).

(e) To what extent has the Bunjima Trial Area been the subject of occupation and use by non-Aboriginal people from sovereignty to the present.

(f) Based on your specialised knowledge as an historian, to what extent (if any) has any occupation or use of the Bunjima Trial Area by non-Aboriginal persons, and any non-Aboriginal laws policies or practices, had an impact on the occupation, way of life, culture or traditions of the Aboriginal people associated with the Bunjima Trial Area from sovereignty to the present.

Factual basis

10. In arriving at opinions on each of the above issues, you should have regard to all the relevant facts that you are aware of as a result of your training, study and experience, including:

(a) ‘primary’ documents held in government or other archives or libraries; 

(b) reputable articles, publications and material produced by others in the area in which you have expertise.
Relevant legal principles

11. For the purposes of paragraph 0
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(a), ‘sovereignty’, in Western Australia, means the year 1829.  To the extent that there is no or insufficient factual basis upon which you can express opinions about the position at that time, you may rely upon information about or obtained at a later date and use that information to draw inferences as to the position in 1829.

The form of the report 

12. Your report must be in a form which makes it capable of being admitted into evidence before the Federal Court.  In this respect, a copy of the Federal Court Guidelines for Expert Witnesses is Attachment 2 to this Brief.  Your report should comply with those guidelines.  In particular, your report should:

(i) be set out in numbered paragraphs;

(ii) append a copy of this brief;

(iii) give details of your qualifications and experience;

(iv) give details of the literature and other materials used in writing the report;

(v) clearly and fully state all assumptions or conclusions of fact which you have made in arriving at the opinions expressed in your report.  Where you rely upon specific information, you should identify the source of that information.  Where you rely upon numerous pieces of information or observations, you should state that and give appropriate examples;

(vi) explain the process of reasoning by which you reached the opinions expressed in your report; 

(vii) clearly differentiate between the facts upon which your opinions are based and the opinions themselves; and

(viii) include the necessary expert declaration.
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